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Chairman’s Statement
FHEHE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, together with the
comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

2021-22 was another year full of challenges and unpredictability. The
global economic outlook remains uncertain as a result of the prolonged
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic. In response to the
recurrent outbreak of COVID-19 in various provinces/cities, stringent
anti-epidemic and prevention measures were implemented by the
government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong
Kong, which have adversely impacted the supply chain in the PRC and
the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong. Nevertheless, the Group
enhanced its efforts in business adjustment and transformation, and
gave greater focus on new development strategies, which allowed itself
to strike a balance between the original restaurant operations and other
investments in the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has recorded total
revenue of HK$910.3 million and loss attributable to the Shareholders
of the Company of approximately HK$6.0 million which represented
42.6% and 123.6% decrease respectively as compared to the
corresponding period in 2021.
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PROSPECTS

In order to cope with the ever-changing external environment
and alleviate the increasingly severe pressure on profitability, the
Company plans to consolidating its resource and focus on the existing
businesses, at the same time keep exploring for new profit drivers.

Looking ahead, in light of the extensive application of COVID-19
vaccines worldwide, we expect the global economy will recover
gradually over time, we remain optimistic on the Group’s long-term
prospects. By virtue of the newly commenced business and in reliance
upon the massive domestic market, economic development of the PRC
has sufficient resilience and tremendous potential. The Group focuses
on the optimisation and development of scenario-based services by
laying a solid foundation for development with an aim to increase its
market share in the future, and continues to explore and develop new
market opportunities in a bid to become the leading enterprise in the
industry.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board and staff of all levels for
their dedication and effort over the years. In addition, on behalf of the
Board, | would also like to express our most sincere thanks to all our
customers and business partners for their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEBARR SN

During the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year under Review”),
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), had two major principal
businesses: (i) Vietnamese-style restaurant business; and (i) trading
business. The Vietnamese-style restaurant business operates in Hong
Kong whereas the trading business segment was a B2B business
identified in 2019 and operates in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$675.2
million, from HK$1,585.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
HK$910.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease in
revenue was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from both trading
business and Vietnamese-style restaurant business, as well as the
impact of the decline in revenue due to the decrease in number of
restaurants operating.

REVENUE OF RESTAURANTS OPERATION

The revenue of restaurants operation decreased by 19.9%, or HK$15.4
million, from HK$77.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
HK$62.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The fifth wave
of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in Hong Kong brought
unprecedented challenges to the Hong Kong food and beverage
sector in the last quarter of the Year under Review. Such decrease was
mainly due to (i) stringent COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control
measures imposed by the Hong Kong Government, including social
distancing policies and suspension of restaurants’ dine-in services
at designated period of time and negative market sentiment had an
adverse impact on the Group’s revenue and results; and (i) the fierce
competition of food and beverage industry.

REVENUE OF TRADING BUSINESS

The revenue of trading business decreased by 43.7%, or HK$653
million, from HK$1,495.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
HK$842.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease
was mainly due to () the continuous outbreak of COVID-19 in various
cities in the PRC which affected the supply chain, (ii) the market
demand was softened, because consumers’ desire of consumption had
been decreasing; and (iii) change of major shareholder of the largest
customer of the Group (represent 93% of trading business revenue),
which may resulted in possible changes in the cooperation between the
Group and the customer. Besides, the COVID-19 pandemic quarantine
measures in certain cities in the PRC had adversely impacted the
supply chain as well as the logistics operations, thus leading to a
decrease in revenue from trading business.
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COST OF REVENUE

The cost of revenue mainly comprised of the cost of food and
beverages, the cost of inventories sold and cost of revenue of other
business. Cost of revenue decrease by HK$645.6 million, from
HK$1,502.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to HK$857.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The cost of revenue as a
percentage of revenue decreased from 94.8% for the year ended 31
March 2021 to 94.2% for the year ended 31 March 2022.

COST OF FOOD AND BEVERAGES

The Group’s cost of food and beverages decreased by 12.2%, or
HK$2.5 million, from HK$20.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2021 to HK$17.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue for the year ended
31 March 2022. As a percentage of revenue of restaurant business,
cost of food and beverage represented 26.1% and 28.6% in 2021 and
2022, respectively.

COST OF INVENTORIES SOLD FROM TRADING
BUSINESS

The Group’s cost of inventories sold from trading business decreased
by 43.3%, or HK$642 million, from HK$1,481.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to HK$839.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2022, representing approximately 99.3% and 99.7% of the
Group’s trading revenue for the respective years. Such decrease was
mainly due to decrease in revenue from trading business.

STAFF COSTS

The Group’s staff costs decreased by 18.7%, or HK$5.6 million, from
HK$29.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to HK$24.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease was primarily due to
the closure of restaurants and slow down of trading business which led
to a decrease in number of headcounts of the Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

PROPERTY RENTALS AND RELATED EXPENSES

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses (being the
aggregate of lease rental, depreciation of right-of-use assets and the
interest expenses arisen from lease liabilities) decreased by 38.9%, or
HK$10.3 million, from HK$26.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2021 to HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
decrease was mainly due to the closure of restaurants during the year.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group held 50% equity interest in It REEEEEFEHBER
A7) (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*, “Minshang
Zhihui”) through a wholly-owned subsidiary, MSCT Investment Limited
(REAIRHEE AR A A]), which was recognised as investment in an
associate. Minshang Zhihui was primarily engaged in technology and
e-commerce related business with a focus on its scenario marketing
system and supply chain management capability to provide various
banks, financial institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce
service. Minshang Zhihui mainly developed and operated e-commerce
platforms for commercial banks in the PRC, and generated profits by
selling goods on platforms developed for large-scale corporation and
platforms owned by Minshang Zhihui (i.e. Juhui Shangcheng (2
¥) and Minsheng Shangcheng (A4 7). Share of post-tax profits
of associate decreased by 48.8%, or HK$8.6 million, from HK$17.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to HK$8.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The decrease in share of results of associates
was mainly due to: (i) the continuous outbreak of COVID-19 in different
cities in the PRC; and (i) fierce market competition which led to a drop
in profit margin.

SHARE STRUCTURE

The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2022 was
HK$2,147,295 divided into 858,918,182 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.0025 each.
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(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Being affected by the factors referred to above, the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$6.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to the profit attributable
to the shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$25.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$23.8 million, representing an decrease of 26.3%, or HK$8.5 million,
as compared with HK$32.3 million as at 31 March 2021.

The issued shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 November 2016 (the “Listing Date” and the
“Listing”, respectively). The Group will continue to use the internal
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$79.4 million (2021: HK$448.3 million) and HK$31.3
million (2021: HK$386.6 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 2.5 times (2021: 1.2 times).

On 11 June 2019, REAIRHER) EFEABKER LA, a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, has a loan facility from It REERIERIT A
R~ 7], a related party of the Group, amounted to RMB11,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,226,000) with a maturity on 10
June 2022. Such loan is repayable on demand, bears interest at 7.5%
per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has drawn down
RMB9,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,392,000) out of
this facility.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding balance for such loan was
RMB90,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$111,000).

On 3 April 2022, such loan was fully repaid by the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was 0.1% (2021:
7.2%), which was calculated based on total borrowings including bank
and other borrowings, divided by equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company. The net debt to equity ratio which was defined as
total borrowings including bank and other borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents divided by equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company, was at net cash position as at 31 March 2022 (2021: same).

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
with net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares of HK$70.9
million. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company “Change
in Use of Proceeds from Listing” published on 19 September 2019
and 24 September 2021, having carefully considered the current
business environment and development needs of the Group, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has resolved to change the
proposed use of part of the Unutilised Net Proceeds in the amount
of HK$20 million originally allocated for broadening cuisine offerings,
to (i) investing in new businesses on supply trading on food and
other consumer goods; and (i) working capital and general corporate
purposes; and further resolved to change the proposed use of part of
the Unutilised Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$10 million originally
allocated for broadening cuisine offerings to working capital and
general corporate purposes.
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The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2022 was

approximately as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Original Revised Amount Amount
allocation Re-allocations allocation utilised remaining
Use of Proceeds FERERR REAE EHOE BHSE EBALE BTEE
(in HKS millon)  (in HKS million) —(in HKS millory —(in HKS million) (in HKS milion)
(BE¥T) (BE¥T) (B&E¥%T) (BE¥T) (BE¥T)
Maintain and expand Viet's Choice brand #1512 7 #i% R 2
restaurants ZE 16.5 = 16.5 (16.1) 0.4
Broaden cuisine offerings REARAMOFN 436 (30.0) 136 (6.6) 7.0
Upgrade and expand food processing A M BEERMT
centre Hy 2.3 - 2.3 (0.1) 2.2
Upgrade information technology systems  FH 4 & s RHE £ 4 1.9 = 1.9 (1.4) 0.5
Broaden the promotion of brand image ~ 1EFt RIEF & M
and recognition 1.1 - 11 (1.1) -
Working capital and general corporate ~ 2i8&& R —M %
puUrposes liths 5.5 20.0 25.5 (20.5) 5.0
Invest in new supply chain business RETHREEE 0 10.0 10.0 (10.0) =
Total @it 70.9 = 70.9 (55.8) 15.1

The net proceeds used and the unutilised proceeds were/will be
utilised according to the proposed application as specified in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 November 2016 (“Prospectus”) and the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2019, 13 August

2020 and 24 September 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 24
December 2021, 31 March 2022 and 17 May 2022, on 24 December
2021, the Group, through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with four independent third parties
(the “Vendors”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to acquire and
the Vendors agreed to sell 100% equity interests in Context Image
Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Target Group”), at a maximum consideration of HK$114,236,118
which shall be settled by way of allotment and issue of a maximum of
171,783,636 consideration shares by the Company to the Vendors in
three stages at the issue price of HK$0.665 per consideration share
under the General Mandate.

The allotment and issue of the second stage consideration shares and
the third stage consideration shares shall be subject to the following
financial guarantees given by the Vendors and the Vendors’ guarantors
with reference to the audited financial statements of the Target
Group for the financial years ending 31 December 2022 (the “2022
Financial Guarantee”) and 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Financial
Guarantee”), respectively:

2022 Financial Guarantee

(1)  the audited consolidated revenue of the Target Group (after
taxation and minority interest and exclude non-recurring income,
extraordinary income and non-operating income) (“Audited
Consolidated Revenue”) for the financial year ending 31
December 2022 shall be no less than RMB50,000,000; and

(2) the audited consolidated net profit of the Target Group (after
taxation and minority interest and exclude non-recurring income,
extraordinary income and non-operating income) (“Audited
Consolidated Net Profit”) for the financial year ending 31
December 2022 shall be no less than RMB5,000,000.

If the Target Group fails to meet the 2022 Financial Guarantee, no
second stage consideration shares will be issued to the Vendors.
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2023 Financial Guarantee

(1)  the Audited Consolidated Revenue for the financial year ending
31 December 2023 shall be no less than RMB120,000,000; and

(2)  the Audited Consolidated Net Profit for the financial year ending
31 December 2023 shall be no less than RMB24,000,000.

If the Target Group fails to meet the 2023 Financial Guarantee, no third
stage consideration shares will be issued to the Vendors.

The Target Group consists of the Target Company, CISC (HK) Holdings
Limited and BB R ELR) B AR A 7 (Changjing Wanxiang
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.*, “Changjing Wanxiang”), and is
principally engaged in the provision and design of SaaS systems and
IT solution services to its customers, including financial institutions and
merchants ranging from the retail, food and beverage, travel, lifestyle
sectors, to build and improve their direct operation capabilities with
their digital users through membership services.

On 22 June 2022, the conditions as stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement were fulfilled. Following completion, the Target
Group became indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
The acquisition constituted a business combination and will be
accounted for using the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations.

As the initial accounting for the acquisition of the Target Group is
incomplete, it is not practicable to reliably estimate its financial effect.

Save for disclosed above, there was no other material acquisitions,
disposals and significant investments during the year ended 31 March
2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no significant events occurred
since the end of the Year under Review and up to the date of this
report.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 88 employees (2021: 118
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The Group also encouraged
employees to enhance their overall career development and knowledge
and skills through continuous education and training courses, so as to
realize their personal potential.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, with reference to their
respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s
matters. The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 November 2016 to reward the participants
defined thereunder for their contribution to the Group’s success and
to provide them with incentives to further contribute to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme has become effective on 29 November 2016. In
addition, employees are entitled to performance and discretionary year-
end bonuses.

No share option was granted during the Year Under Review. As at 31
March 2022, the Company had no outstanding share option under the
Share Option Scheme.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company’s long-term goal is to create a diversified and integrated
group with food and beverage as the core supplemented by high-
efficiency industrial chain and scale business. While continuously
striving to expand its core business, the Company also continuously
explored the possibility of e-commerce business of other consumer
products with a determination to establish a diversified and integrated
e-commerce platform.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the restaurant operation, most of the transactions of the Group are
denominated in HK$. For the trading business, the Group’s sales and
purchases were mainly denominated in RMB. The Group was exposed
to foreign exchange risk based on the fluctuations between HK$ and
RMB arising from the trading business in the PRC. The Group does not
employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes. While the Board
currently does not expect currency fluctuations to materially impact
the Group’s operations, the Board will review the foreign exchange
exposure of the Group from time to time as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

PROSPECTS

The Company’s strategic goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group comprising top-notch full-service casual chain restaurants in
Hong Kong supplemented by high-efficiency industrial chain and scale
business. In the foreseeable future, we remain confident in the business
prospects of the Group.

I. Vietnamese-Style Restaurant Business

In view of the uncertainties in global economy recovery and
epidemic prevention and control of the COVID-19 in Hong Kong,
the Group’s business will encounter various challenges in the
foreseeable future. The major risks and uncertainties of the Group
are summarized as follows:

o Although there is a falling trend on shop rent as a result
of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the Group may
not be able to obtain a lease at ideal location for the new
restaurants or renew the existing lease on commercially
acceptable terms, and the above potential risks may have
a significant adverse impact on the Group’s business and
future development;

° The operation of the Group may be affected by the price
of food ingredients, including the price of imported food
ingredients affected by exchange rate fluctuations.
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Nevertheless, by leveraging on the years of experience of its
management team in managing the food and beverage business
in Hong Kong, the Group will continue to implement the following
strategies:

° maintaining the Group’s market share and continuing
to expand its network of Viethamese-style casual
dining restaurants in Hong Kong by the replacement of
restaurants which the Group has plan to close, opening of
new Viethamese-style casual dining restaurants as well as
further refurbishment of existing restaurants;

° leveraging on the Group’s standardised operations
and management and broadening the Group’s cuisine
offerings to capture a larger market share in Hong Kong
by developing different lines of casual dining restaurants,
including full-menu Vietnamese-style restaurants, French-
Vietnamese-style restaurants and international cuisines
restaurants;

° upgrading the information technology systems to support
the Group’s future expansion and growth; and

° broadening the promotion of the Group’s brand image and
market recognition.

Trading Business

Despite the challenges the Group is facing under the global and
domestic economy environment and the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group will still strive to maintain and develop in its trading
business as well as exploring new opportunities.

Our management team has a long-term vision and a marvellous
pool of talents. Through continuous exploration, the Group
believes that challenges will bring opportunities and it strives
to achieve brilliant results by riding on the wind and waves and
forging ahead towards the goal of becoming the mainstay of the
industry, in a bid to generate higher profits for the Group and
greater value for Shareholders and create a grand chapter for the
era.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. WU JIANGTAO

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 46, is the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary
and banking from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July
1998, a master’s degree of economics from Chinese Academy of
Social Science in July 2007 and a Ph.D degree in finance from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in December 2012. Mr. Wu was
the chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer of
Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd (R4AEFEHE AR E(E A7) from
December 2013 to April 2015. Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the
board of directors of Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen)
Ltd (“Minsheng E-Commerce”) since April 2015 until now. Prior to
joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd, Mr. Wu served as the branch
manager of China Minsheng Bank Wuhan Branch from November 2011
to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”). Mr. Wu will receive a director’s remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the
prevailing market conditions.

MR. LU SHENG HONG

Mr. LU Sheng Hong (“Mr. Lu”), aged 52, is an executive Director of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Lu obtained a bachelor’s degree in
finance from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in July 1992
and a bachelor’s degree in economics from Wuhan University in June
1998. Mr. Lu joined Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd as vice president
from April 2014 to April 2015. Mr. Lu has been the vice president and
the chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce since April 2015,
who is responsible for the day to day operation and management of
Minsheng E-Commerce. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd, Mr. Lu was the vice branch manager of China Minsheng Bank
Wuhan Branch from September 2003 to April 2014 and an assistant
to the general manager of China Merchants Bank Wuhan Branch from
November 2002 to September 2003. He was an officer and a section
officer of China Construction Bank Hubei Branch from August 1992 to
July 2001.
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ESkeREEERE

Mr. Lu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lu will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MS. LI JIA

Ms. LI Jia (“Ms. Li"), aged 37, is an executive Director of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in management
from Jiangxi Finance University in July 2006 and master of business
administration from New York Institute of Technology in May 2012. Ms.
Li was the vice general manager of finance department of Minsheng
E-Commerce Co., Ltd from March 2014 to April 2015. Ms. Li has been
the general manager of Hong Kong business of Minsheng E-Commerce
since April 2015 until now. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd, Ms. Li was the assistant to general manager of finance department
from November 2009 to March 2010, the vice general manager of the
finance department from March 2010 to February 2011 and the finance
general manager of China Minsheng Bank Nanchang Branch from
February 2011 to March 2014. She was the client manager of SPD
Bank Nanchang Branch from July 2006 to September 2008.

Ms. Li has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Ms. Li will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to her duties and responsibilities with the Company, her
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MR. TAO JINGYUAN

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (“Mr. Tao”), aged 37, is an executive Director of
the Company since 6 March 2020. Mr. Tao received his bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics at Tsinghua University in July 2007
and his master’s degree in Finance at the University of Hong Kong
in June 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tao had worked as
senior manager of corporate business department of Harvest Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2010; vice president of
Asia Pacific region business department of Harvest Global Investments
from August 2010 to May 2012; General Manager of private banking
department of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd Wuhan Branch
from May 2012 to July 2015. After that, Mr. Tao joined Minsheng
E-Commerce in September 2015 and has been serving as vice
president of Minsheng E-Commerce & General Manager of Finance
Division.

Mr. Tao has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Tao will receive a
director’s remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. CHOI TZE KIT, SAMMY

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 59, is an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 35 years of experience
in finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-
executive director of Prinx Chengshan Holdings Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1809.HK) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to August
2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of Ernest
Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.HK). From January 2007 to
November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director
of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.HK) and from February 2016
to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director of
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.HK).
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ESkeREEERE

Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales (“ICAEW”), a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (*ACCA”), a fellow Certified Public Accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi is now a committee member of Professional Conduct
Committee and Professional Development Committee, and a member
of Investigation Panel of the HKICPA. He has also been a council
member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Merchants Mutual Assistance
Society Limited since October 2013. He was a council member of The
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors from 2010 to 2015. He
has been elected as an honorary financial advisor of Hong Kong and
Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants Association (Wing Hing Tong) in
2018.

Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG MIU

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (“Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 52, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1992 and a master’s degree in
business administration from The University of New South Wales in May
1998. Mr. M. Cheung has years of experiences in the finance industry.
He joined CITIC Capital Holding Limited in 1999 and is currently a
senior managing director and head of structured investment and
finance of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited. He has been appointed as a
director of China National Investment & Guaranty Corporation, shares
of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations,
since 25 April 2017. He was employed by Commonwealth Bank of
Australia from January 1998 to May 1999 and his last position with the
bank was as executive in the corporate finance department. He was
the assistant manager of the investment banking department of Societe
Generale Asia Limited from January 1995 to February 1996.

Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MR. CHEUNG PAK TO, PATRICK

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick (“Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 73,
is an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6
July 2018. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Amasse Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.HK) and also
an independent non-executive director of Greenheart Group Limited
(stock code: 94.HK). He was an independent non-executive director
of National Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236.HK)
from 1 January 2017 to 8 November 2019. Mr. P.T. Cheung holds a
master’s degree in public administration from the University of Hong
Kong of which he was accorded as a distinguished alumnus in 2007.
Mr. P.T. Cheung has extensive management and administrative
experiences. From 1969, Mr. P.T. Cheung had served with the United
Kingdom Government, British Forces in Hong Kong for 21 years, with
his final post as a Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989,
he was employed by the Securities and Futures Commission Hong
Kong for 20 years, with his final position as Senior Manager of the
Finance & Administration Department. On the social and community
responsibilities front, Mr. P.T. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer
in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service for 30 years during which he was
appointed as honorary Aide-de-Camp to the former Governors Lord
Wilson and Mr. Christopher Patten; and Mr. Tung Chee-hwa, the former
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Government, for 10 consecutive years
from 1990 to 1999. Mr. P.T. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant
Commissioner in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service and was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2003. Mr.
Cheung has been the chairman of United Services Recreation Club
Limited since June 2015.

Mr. P.T. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve
effective accountability.

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as code provision
C.2.1 since 1 January 2022) of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) as disclosed in this annual report, has complied with
all applicable code provisions in effect during 2021 as set out in the CG
Code during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “New CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements
under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports for
the financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board
will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance practice
of the Company to ensure compliance with the New CG Code and
align with the latest developments.

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”) is the Chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Taking
into account the consistent leadership within the Group and in order
to enable more effective and efficient overall strategic planning and
continuation of the implementation of such plans, all the other Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)) consider
that Mr. Wu is the best candidate for both positions and the present
arrangements are beneficial to and in the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution
of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board
and assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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COMPOSITION OF BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and INEDs so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
seven Directors, four of whom are executive Directors and the other
three are INEDs. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. WU Jiangtao

Mr. LU Sheng Hong
Ms. LI Jia

Mr. TAO Jingyuan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. WONG Stacey Martin, a
non-executive Director, resigned on 30 April 2021.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had three INEDs,
representing more than one-third of the Board members, which has
met the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of INEDs must
represent at least one-third of the Board members, and also met the
requirement that at least one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs) without the presence of the other
executive Director annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 is
as follows:

EERMEANRERERRER
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Continuous
professional
development

programs
BEEXE
Name of Directors EENE BRI E
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIBELEE v
Mr. LU Sheng Hong B4R E v
Ms. LI Jia TELE v
Mr. TAO Jingyuan PRE R A v
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BETFHEEE v
Mr. CHEUNG Miu B v
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick & {BFE 5 A& v
Resigned: EEHME :
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (resigned on 30 April 2021) BEBEAE(R20214F4H30H EFF) v
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The nature of continuous professional development programs includes
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance, Listing Rules and other laws and regulation
amendments and directors’ duties and responsibilities.

LIABILITY INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimise risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board convened a total
of six meetings in person or by means of electronic communication.
The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2022

REE2022F3A31HILFE EFQUFEHH

BEFRASNX - —HBRBAR

REFH - BEER

HE2022F3A31B L FERITZARREES

FHELBRRGZHETHENT

is as follows:
No. of
Attendance/
No. of Meeting
HERE
Name of Directors BEEHS =6 PN
Annual
General Board
Meeting Meeting
BRAFAE EEgeR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WU Jiangtao RITESRAE 1/1 6/6
Mr. LU Sheng Hong EBILE 1/1 6/6
Ms. LI Jia FERT 1/1 6/6
Mr. TAO Jingyuan PRER R A 1/1 6/6
Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin EHREMEE
(resigned on 30 April 2021) (R20219F4A30H B#HT) - 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKEBITES
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy AR A 1/1 6/6
Mr. CHEUNG Miu SRS 1/1 6/6
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick SRIAME 5t 4 1/1 6/6
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge and length of service.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The terms of reference of the Board Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee consists of three INEDs,
namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG
Pak To, Patrick. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit,
Sammy who possesses relevant professional qualification and expertise
in financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but
are not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with
the external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

° developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

° reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

° discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have such effective systems;

° considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

° where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

° reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;
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° reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

o ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

° considering other topics as defined by the Board.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee convened

two committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit
Committee meetings is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE
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BiRENEMEAREREREELND
JE

s WBREFESLFOERIMNIZHBEMGETE
BENKFFRENSER &
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BEge@m s HERsnT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

HERE
Name of Directors BEEgE 2R
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BB A 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RBALAE 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick RIAM S & 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two INEDs, namely Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr.
CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
WU Jiangtao. Mr. CHEUNG Miu is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of o  HIEMTEEZHFHRNESSELHERER
the non-executive Directors; A
e considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time o  EHAIHLRAFMINEHS  BARRE -

commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions EAERKNEEEMAE 2 EBAGY
elsewhere in the Group;

e reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the o RFRHLERFEMAINRIEEBRBRER

executive Directors and senior management of the Company for MEMNARRIRITEERSRETERENE
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it B UHERBHEBEESOETE - &
is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and BITMBRFEM BB

not excessive;

e reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating e  RIRIEBNERIBIETATEESY
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure BEZH - UEREBERETHEEE LG
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are B3 BATASEEE &k

otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as o HRFEESEXHETMABHEAL(EER L

defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own MHADDHEEFERNGFHH
remuneration.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee REZE202243A31BILFE  HTHEEEE
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director FA—XZEEgZE SEFUFHEESKNE S

L

in the capacity of a member of the Remuneration Committee at its MHEEEGRILHEAT :
meeting is as follows:

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

HERE
Name of Directors BEEfE 2ERY
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RWALE 1/1
Mr. WU Jiangtao RTEgEAE 11
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick KA LA 1/1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two INEDs, namely Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick
and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one executive Director, namely Mr. WU
Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao, who is also the Chairman of the Board, and
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of the INEDs; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meeting
is as follows:
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No. of Meeting

HERE
Name of Directors EENR 2ENH
Mr. WU Jiangtao RITEgEAE 1/1
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick KA LA 1/1
Mr. CHEUNG Miu FWEAE 1/1
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The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted
by the Company in November 2018. Pursuant to the Nomination
Policy, in evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee would consider the following criteria, including,
among other things, character and integrity, qualifications (cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy),
any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity,
and willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if applicable)
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not
limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

° reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

All the Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Articles. At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and
shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he/
she retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and does not offer himself/herself for re-
election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been
the longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and
so that as between the persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, PricewaterhouseCoopers was
engaged as the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

¥ 3L 4% B4 Bifi 5 A

REE2022F3A31H IHFE » BEExEZ
B S 75 P FE /o /K S (B ) 9B SO A AT o

REZE202243A31R ILEFEENR BNREER
KBS ERFENE T ¢

Fee paid/payable

e ENER

HK$’000

FET

Audit services EBiTR® 2,700
Non-audit services (including tax and other advisory FZEARE (R ERE R E A AR

services) 422

Total #Et 3,122

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers has stated in the independent
auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an
annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, while management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has conducted an
annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised
and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through the
Audit Committee are kept informed of significant risks (including
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)-related risks) that may
impact on the Group’s performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective
and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Group maintained effective risk management and internal control in
all material respects, and the Board of Directors was not aware of any
significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and
internal control. The Board of Directors has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and considered them effective and adequate.
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MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives
of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to
promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving
risks (including ESG-related risks) associated with the business. In
order to guide decisions on risk related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

1. to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures
of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately
mitigated, minimized and managed i.e. to ensure adequate
systems for risk management.

2. to establish a framework for the Group’s risk management
process and to ensure its implementation.

3. to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever
applicable, through the adoption of best practices.

4.  to assure business growth with financial stability.

RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS

Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by management from the risk universe which is a collection
of risks built on environmental analysis and external benchmarking
that can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process
level. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating the results of the
discussions and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors
are further assessed by a scale rating process by the management to
evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritization is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritize
the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition,
the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material controls
such as financial, operational and compliance controls. In addition,
internal control review was conducted to review the internal control
systems of the Group on an on-going basis. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year were effective
and adequate.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

o the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LI Yan Wing, Rita (“Ms. Rita Li”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary. She is currently an executive director of the Corporate
Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Ms. LI Jia, an executive Director has been designated as the primary
contact person at the Company who would work and communicate
with Ms. Rita Li on the Company’s corporate governance and
secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, Ms. Rita Li has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition,
working capital requirements and future business plans as the Board
may deem relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to
any guarantee or representation or indication that the Company must
or will declare and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not
pay any dividend at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company,
if any, will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

LRHE

FHAXT(ERAXL)EZERRBWE -
BRRREERXRABAERAAEERGHBATE
F o RZRREERENEXRRB AR - REFE
HE®  CERREESRERS -

PREFORCEEAUREETEERLER
ERAMERHELNRS - HTEEFELL
EERESARREEZHMA - BRARBRE
ERNMWERTTREEEFIT AL TETIE
KB -

REE2022F3A31B IHFE » AEBR EHREL
FEI20KBTE AR LTEBEITORI5/NE
R FARE S ELEH -

Bx B R

AARER2018F 11 AERME B BER ([BR B
B  ZHEREBEEERRDZART RN - FR
FEEARRNRBESIABIRARRERELSE - &
EeEERREFERS - HBESEARET
DREBEMBFE ZRREMLBEEBEFHD
30% * HAZ(HFBRE)ARRzEERT K &
R BBARR CEERERLRESS AN
R AR VEMR A M R R TS 5B o %G IS
REMREBREAS R TAR R VARG ZIZAE
BARAERLEMAEE EE2TEEIR&KAE
AR B o ARA RGN 2R &R AB TR (20
a)e

RRABAIAEEEBRNHARELERRS - &
ZRR2RRERDIRMNEE - ARFRRILER
HRAMER (WEA) -

B E G5 EMNRBE R AR
A s -



SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association and the
articles of association of the Company (the “M&A”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move
a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must deposit
a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the
Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as
not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of
the outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor
include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM.
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If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 42083, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, by post or by email at
ir-hk@msok.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to
the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company'’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT AND OUR MANAGEMENT
TO ESG ISSUES

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

This is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report
(“this Report”) of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”). This Report outlines the
Group’s ESG policies, management approaches and initiatives, with the
support of quantitative performance indicators to illustrate the Group’s
efforts in managing material ESG matters.

Unless otherwise specified, this Report covers the Group’s operation
of restaurant chains in Hong Kong from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022
(“the reporting period”). During the reporting period, 2 restaurants
were closed down. As of the date of this Report, the restaurant chains
consist of 9 restaurants located across Hong Kong.

In addition to the Group’s restaurant business, the Group has a wholly
owned subsidiary, R BIEHEK)E FE % BMR AT (“Minshang
Ningbo”) in the PRC, which focuses on B2B business offering of 3C
electronic products, frozen foods and grain & oil products sourced
from manufacturers or wholesalers to distributors. Despite Minshang
Ningbo contributes a significant portion of the Group’s revenue, in view
of its business nature and size of workforce, the Board of Directors of
the Group (the “Board”) consider that the ESG risks of this subsidiary
are limited and decide not to cover this subsidiary in this Report. The
Group will continue to review the business and market trends to identify
any ESG matters which possess significant impacts to our operations.
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R -HEBRER

REPORTING STANDARDS HEA

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 27 FRDZEH EMRBIMESE -+ ECGRE - g hER
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange WEESD(HEEINES - REANR(ERIRER
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). The report content, together with HERIE)EFITETRERRE R RIESI FTHRE
the environmental and social metrics, fulfils the “comply or explain”

provisions as well as the “mandatory disclosures” required by the ERB N2 2 HE%E -
Guide. Meanwhile, the reporting principles set out in the Guide serve as
the underpinning foundation of the preparation and presentation of this

Report —

Materiality
EEH

A list of material ESG aspects was identified through a sophisticated review of the
Group’s business, market development and stakeholders’ concerns and served to
determine the focus of this Report.

FRUREENER MHEEREISMNEBITELET2EEHNMBNEZRE 1t
ERER/ATHBE  WAREEARENES -

Quantitative

E1t

Quantitative data on the Group’s social and environmental performance was disclosed
with multiple-year comparisons and discussions on the trends observed.

BREASBEHERRERAETANEERE  YETSFLERARABERINE

Eh
;j o

Balance

Tl

Apart from the achievements attained, rooms for improvement in the Group’s ESG
management was also discussed in this Report.

BRETEUSACRSN - MERARETRARERE - @ REAEE T mANRE

Consistency

— ¥

Consistent methodologies were used for the compilation of environmental and social
metrics as far as possible. Annotations added to information indicated changes of
calculating methodologies, basis and factors affecting consistent disclosure and a
meaningful data comparison presented.

EREEMMEEERCF/ARER —BTE - ﬂéﬂmtiz/ﬂﬁ‘\%ﬂﬂ%; B
BLRA2INABEBBLBZAEN L RERARE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY

The information disclosed in this Report is extracted from the Group’s
internal documents, statistical reports or relevant public materials.
The Group undertakes that this Report does not contain any false
information, misleading statement or material omission, and takes
responsibilities for the contents hereof as to the authenticity, accuracy
and completeness.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board acknowledges the significance of effective sustainability
practices and actively considers integrating ESG systems in making key
business decisions. The Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing
the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities, establishing
and adopting the ESG-related strategy and targets, reviewing the
implementation progress made against the Group’s ESG-related
targets and goals.

The Board regularly evaluates and determines the risks (including
ESG-related risks) that are relevant to the Group and ensures that
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
are in place. The Board has regular meetings and discussions on
the effectiveness of these systems. With a proper ESG governance,
the Group believes that its long-term business sustainability can
be facilitated and the expectations from its stakeholders could be
addressed.

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for overseeing and
directing the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 30 June 2022.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

To engage internal and external stakeholders in shaping the Group’s
ESG management priorities and approach, employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners were invited to participate in an online
survey to evaluate the relevance and significance of various ESG topics
in their relationships with the Group in 2017.
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B #HERERRSE

In addition, we have reviewed the material topics by considering o BPIBBEEASEENERELERELS
the Group’s business operations and priorities. The material topics HESTERHE - EFRENERZEIDAE
identified last year remained relevant and applicable to us. The table BANRER - TREETHERABEREANW A REE
below summarised the ESG topics that are considered to be the most AEEMIRE HERERRAELAETRTYEN

material and may have significant influence over the Group’s ESG R g REREE -
performance.
ESG topics Why is this relevant?

RE - HERERHRE

HERE

Customer health and safety
BEEREET S

In view of the pandemic, the Hong Kong Government has adopted a series
of regulations and health care and hygiene advice. The Group adheres to all
regulations applicable to food premises and exercises our due care to minimise
customers’ health and safety risks exposure during their dining experience at
our restaurants.

EMNEE - BEBNERN—RIERARBEREREGEESR - ~AEEHE
TEARRMEMNMAEER TR NAIETERMOERRRERERLY
R kL 2R -

Food safety and quality
EmEZEREE

The Group delivers food as the major products and services to its customers,
where it is liable and accountable for the safety and quality issues induced from
the food it served. Any food safety and quality incidents due to inappropriate
internal control could lead to a significant damage to our brand value.
MEZRERmEAEENTEEZRMERY At HHEERERNTZE R
EEMEAE - ARASZEH TSN ENRMEE REESF M AT
FEREHMOMBEEHE -

In view of the pandemic, it is our responsibility to pay extra attention on the
safety of food preparation and delivery processes, to avoid any kinds of food
contamination.

ERNEE - B EEZEFIIERMEEREXBRENTD - B SEM
BS54

Occupational health and safety

BEEREEZE

The food and beverage industry is labour-intensive and, thus, upholding
high standards of occupational health and safety is a top priority to our
management team and operation agenda.

BERTEBEHNBERTE At - #F K TRBERREZ2/EMHN
BB EEN G ERE -

In view of the pandemic, it is important to maintain a healthy working
environment for employees that they are supported with protective measures
and exposed to minimum health risks at work.

fﬁ*EAF B REERAFEENIIERSEZHUEE - KM AREERERER
i %ﬁdﬁlf’ﬁ%ﬂ’]@iﬂ k& -
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RIE HERERRE

ESG topics
RE HERERRE

Why is this relevant?

HERE

A stable workforce is one of the keys to maintain hectic operations and uphold
product and service quality, while lowering recruitment and training costs.
CHNNREUERARECCERBREMMRBE S, YRKEERSER
HIIKARNBREARERZ — -

Employment relationship

[ LES

Waste management, with a focus on food
waste and use of disposable utensils
BEVER  EMARMENR
—RMERENER

Waste management remains to be a major sustainability challenge for
Hong Kong while food waste shares a significant portion of waste disposed
according to Hong Kong Government statistics. Disposable food packaging
and utensils could also increase the burden to waste management system of
Hong Kong.

RBEBBRNEE  EEVEBNREBLIENAFKEZRRBZ— MR
MEDEREBRYNLERK - —RUERmBELRBATSENESEDE
BRENEE-

In addition, we also consider the following ESG topics relevant to our BESN - HPITAAE THIRE g REAZEEE A

operation: M EESSEA
e Customer services and complaint handling o  EBERBRIEFHERE
e Procurement e IKME

e Energy consumption o BERBRE

e Climate change e  RIREIL

e Compliance in managing emissions and discharge e  EEIMHERIER

This Report focuses on the disclosure of our management approach TRETERERMBALAZENEELTER

and performance of the aforementioned topics.

OUR MANAGEMENT ON ESG ISSUES

Under the supervision of the Board, the senior management team
of our subsidiaries which operate the restaurant chain provide
oversight on the day-to-day management and internal controls to the
aforementioned material topics. To facilitate better communication
between the senior management and the store managers, monthly
meetings are arranged to discuss key regulatory updates, performance
in service quality, occupational health and safety alerts, among other
operational matters. Regular store inspections are also conducted to
ensure the effective implementation of ESG internal control measures.

®RH o
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RIE - HERERRSE

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group acknowledges that pursuing high quality of food and
services are the key to long term success. We try our best to innovate
and provide enjoyable experience through continuously enhancing the
taste of the food we serve while protecting our customers’ health and
safety.

Considering the nature of our business, intellectual property rights
and privacy matters are not considered material topics to the Group’s
product and service offerings.

CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

In response to the pandemic, the Group has implemented a wide array
of measures to protect the health and safety of customers and contain
the spread of the virus. This includes observing and undertaking the
latest Hong Kong Government regulations and recommendations
applicable to our operations. We have adhered to the Prevention
and Control of Disease (Requirement and Directions) (Business and
Premises) Regulation (the Regulation) (Cap. 599G and 599F). When
the Regulation was in effect, we restricted our seating capacity of
restaurants to be within 50%, and ensured tables were arranged with
a distance of at least 1.5 meters. Moreover, partitions were positioned
to avoid the direct face-to-face contact of visitors, together with
the limitation of number of customers at each table. Temperature
check was required for any visitors entering our restaurants, while
hand sanitiser was also offered accordingly. Both staff, customers
and visitors in the restaurant were required to wear mask, with the
exception of when customers were enjoying their meal. To ensure a
safe and hygienic catering environment, we clean and disinfect areas
with food contact surfaces and high touchpoints on a regular basis,
including tableware, doorknobs and tabletops.

During the reporting period, we did not observe any violations or any
complaints regarding the Prevention and Control of Disease Regulation.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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FOOD SAFETY

Food safety standards is one of our most important pursuits in our
business operations. We have obtained and regularly renew all
required operating licenses, including general restaurant license and
restricted food permits, issued by the Food and Environmental Hygiene
Department (“FEHD”) and Centre for Food Safety of the Hong Kong
Government. The licenses ensure that our restaurants meet the relevant
food safety standards.

As the Group has always placed food safety at the forefront, we have
developed Restaurant Operation Manual, Food Safety Manual and other
guidelines in accordance with the requirements listed on the codes and
material published by the FEHD. The guidelines stipulate procedures
associated with food safety matters, which cover procurement, storage
and food delivery. Instructions on hygiene, sanitation and proper waste
disposal, are also specified in our respective guidelines. To ensure
compliance with all applicable regulations, our Food & Beverage (“F&B”)
Operations Department closely monitors the implementation of the
guidelines. Moreover, the F&B Operations Department keeps abreast
of the latest food safety and hygiene regulations and updates the
guidelines accordingly. In order to enable a smooth standardisation, we
arrange meetings on food safety requirements to reach a consensus
between all operations of the Group.

Food ingredients are separately stored at a specific temperature. This
enables all food ingredients to be kept at an optimal temperature. To
ensure our ingredients are fresh, we adopt a first-in-first-out approach
and established a maximum shelf-life for different types of food. All
food containers are also clearly labelled to avoid mixing and cross-
contamination. When handling food, all staff are required to wear
gloves, masks and hats properly.
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To ensure our employees adhere to our hygiene requirements, the
Operations Director, F&B Operations District Managers and assigned
Hygiene Managers conduct site visits and inspection on a regular
basis. In each restaurant, we will select at least one senior staff to
be appointed as the health supervisor after participating in a training
course approved by the Hygiene Manager and Hygiene Supervisor
Scheme of the FEHD. To increase employee engagement on
performing food and hygiene control duties, we review and update the
appointment from time to time.

During the reporting period, the Group conducts our operations in
accordance with the “Food Safety and Hygiene Advisory for Food
Premises on the Prevention of COVID-19” issued by the FEHD and
Centre of Food Safety. We have stepped up our efforts by conducting
regular cleansing and sterilisation in kitchens and general areas, while
the restaurant managers actively monitor the sanitary conditions to
ensure hygiene standards are met. In accordance with the suggestions
by the Hong Kong Government, appropriate food handling practices
are also adopted. We require all staff entering the kitchen to apply hand
sanitiser and wash their hands thoroughly with soap and water. This
ensure that their hands are clean before entering the kitchen, creating a
hygienic environment for processing foods.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with
the Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), the Public Health and Municipal
Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and other applicable laws and regulation
regarding food safety, as well as the conditions stated under the
operating license.
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FOOD QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Our customers’ level of satisfaction is a key driver for our continuous
improvement. The Group endeavours to gain a better understanding
of customer demands on food quality, customer service and dining
experience, and works hard to address their demands accordingly.

To standardise the food processing procedures and provide our
customers with good and consistent food quality, a Recipe Form
for all dishes has been established to provide guidance for kitchen
staff at the restaurants. We regularly communicate with our front-line
staff regarding the standardised specifications such as temperature,
taste and presentation. This further ensures that our employees
have a sufficient understanding and prepare food according to the
specifications. Moreover, the F&B Operations District Managers and
relevant personnel conduct quality checks on a regular and ad-hoc
basis. To receive objective and unbiased feedback, we also employ
third parties to perform mystery customer surveys in selected stores.
If unsatisfactory performance is observed, the store is required to
review the food processing procedures and simultaneously make
improvements under the supervision of the Operations Director.

To keep up with the latest market trends and consumer preferences,
we perform market and food quality research, and update our
menus, services and prices from time to time. As we highly value our
customers’ feedback, we also regularly conduct customer satisfaction
assessments in form of customer feedback form. By taking into
account the feedback received from customers, different restaurants
establish and implement relevant plans and programs to improve food
quality, service standards, hygiene and dining environment. Moreover,
we conduct taste evaluations on new dishes at selected restaurants
prior to officially introducing them to the market.
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We seek to enhance our customers’ experience by listening to their
feedback, identifying areas for improvement and taking the necessary
actions to address their concerns. Formal channels and procedures
are established for handling customer complaints. At our restaurants,
we welcome customers to file complaints about any unpleasant dining
experience to the staff on duty. Although a majority of complaints
are resolved at the store level, unresolved complaints are escalated
and handled by a designated officer at the administrative office. They
are also responsible for handling concerns raised via the customer
service hotline, government authorities and mass media. Meanwhile,
store managers have the responsibility to consolidate and report
the complaints received to the administrative office through internal
communication channels in a timely manner. Upon receiving the
complaint, inspection and substantiation of the complaint is conducted,
followed by reasonable solutions which includes providing redress to
customers.

During the reporting period, 32 customer complaints was recorded,
representing a 39% increase compared to last year. The increased in
number of complaints were mainly due to staff shortage led to long
wait times at our restaurants. All customers complaints were properly
followed up and resolved.

The Group reviews the records of complaints filed on an ongoing basis
and discusses with frontline staff during monthly meetings to increase
staff awareness and achieve continuous improvement.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Suppliers play a critical role in ensuring a safe and stable source of
food, packaging materials and other resources, which are vital in
supporting our daily operations. To this end, the Group is dedicated
to actively engaging our suppliers and building long-term and mutually
beneficial business relationships with them.
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To achieve effective supply chain management, we have a supplier
selection program in place along with a compiled list of approved
suppliers. We require potential suppliers to undergo a series of pre-
approval procedures. During the supplier selection process, documents
including operation license and product origin are assessed, while
the food quality, consistency and delivery time are also evaluated
accordingly. To ensure the quality of products, we may require
suppliers to provide product samples for testing.

The Group continuously monitor the performance of our suppliers
engaged. In particular, the quality, freshness, temperature and
packaging of incoming goods at the restaurants are inspected by staff.
Return or exchange of order will be issued if the incoming goods are in
unacceptable conditions. Suppliers who provide unsatisfactory goods
or have unacceptable behaviour repeatedly may be subject to contract
termination.

Anti-corruption

With integrity and ethics placed in the core of its philosophy, the Group
is committed to fully comply with all the laws and regulations concerning
anti-corruption. We are aware of the inherent risk of corruption in the
procurement and quality control procedures, the Group has developed
a Code of Conduct to provide guidance on achieving ethical business
operations and maintaining business integrity. In addition, we require all
directors, officers and staff to abide by the principles stipulated in the
Code of Conduct, as well as all applicable laws, regulations and rules
relating to anti-corruption. The Group strictly adheres to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance provisions. Any corrupt practices are strictly
prohibited among all staff members.

During the reporting period, there were no confirmed cases regarding
corrupt practices of legal proceedings, claims or disputes brought
against the Group or its employees. Although the Group did not
organise any anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
during the reporting period, we will review our training curriculum and
strive to enhance our training on anti-corruption in the coming years.
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B #HERERRSE

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The Group believes that employees are the cornerstone for our long-
term business success. Our employees play an important role in
supporting our office administration and frontline restaurant operations.
To this end, we devote considerable resources to provide our

ANBRER

AEEBEEEDHMARMEBZRINER - &
MOEEERAEEERAGERESET MEE
EERER - Bl AEBRAXREERASESR
REABFNNFHTER L 2 RBERNTIER

employees with a competitive remuneration package and a safe and B

healthy working environment.

During the reporting period, our workforce' 2 by different categories are

illustrated as below.

Male
St
22%

Female
pegia
78%

GENDER
14 5

Part-time
Permanent R j&
KA 6%

94%

EMPLOYMENT
TYPE
REER

! The statistics is as of the end of the Group’s financial year.

2 The statistics exclude employees that are service the investment holding arm 2

of the Group and Minshang Ningbo.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The health and safety of our employees is of utmost importance to us.
Therefore, we are dedicated to minimising Occupational Health and
Safety (“OHS”) risks in our overall operations by formulating internal
work safety guidelines and carrying out on-site inspections. We
continuously identify, evaluate and address potential OHS risks in the
workplace and restaurants.

Our employees are equipped with the necessary work safety
knowledge and awareness through on-the-job trainings. Briefings
are given to new hires on their first few days of work to ensure that
they have the necessary skills to operate different appliance and
machines properly. In high-risk areas, such as outside the refrigerator
and near machines, operating guidelines and safety tips issued by the
Occupational Safety and Health Council are displayed as reminders.
Besides, we provide personal protective equipment and auxiliary tools,
including heat-resistant gloves, masks, trolleys and safety ladders, for
our employees to conduct their daily duties in a safe manner.

Apart from this, the Group has implemented various measures to
minimise OHS risks. For example, we have automated majority of
the cooking procedures in the restaurants to reduce our employees’
exposure to open flames and knives. We have also installed protection
shield on machines and equipment to further protect employees
responsible for operating related machines. As we place great
emphasis on fire safety, we arrange regular third-party inspection
and maintenance of fire equipment in compliance with regulatory
requirements. Besides, we situate appropriate and adequate working
fire blankets and fire extinguisher, as well as ensure our employees are
well aware of the evacuation process.
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In response to the pandemic, the Group has made the greatest effort
in protecting the health of our staff and customers, these measures
include:

o Partitions are set up to minimise face-to-face contact between
customers and our employees;

o Customers who refuse to wear a mask or has abnormal body
temperature are not allowed to enter the restaurants;

° Regular disinfection and cleaning of high-risk areas, such as
kitchens, floors and high touch points;

o Employees are required to check their body temperature regularly
and provide them with masks and hand sanitiser;

° All employees at the restaurants have received three doses of
COVID-19 vaccine; and

o Keep employees abreast of the latest pandemic development
and Hong Kong Government announcements. Quick tips are
also communicated to enrich staff's hygiene knowledge. Mental
health care and support is provided to help address employees’
concerns over quarantine or anxiousness amid the pandemic.

The Group makes every effort to respond to and properly handle
work-related injuries and accident cases. All accident cases must be
reported to the administrative office for further investigation and are
recorded appropriately. The Group also provides an effective insurance
policy to employees who are involved in work-related injuries. If there
are such cases, we will make sure that those cases are investigated
and reported to ensure that they are handled in accordance with
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59). The
work-related injured employees will be provided with corresponding
insurance coverage and entitled to sick leave. We will also discuss
the work-related injury cases and preventive measures among the
F&B Operations Department and store managers during the monthly
meetings to avoid recurrence. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to protect employees from occupational hazards through upscaling our
efforts in implementing OHS control measures.

During the reporting period, there were no work-related fatalities, but
one reported case of work injuries, resulting in a total of 127 lost days.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group conducts business with utmost integrity, policies regarding
labour protection, working conditions, prevention and protection from
occupation hazards are clearly stipulated in relevant staff handbook
and/or policies and strictly implemented in operation.

Employment arrangements encompassing working environment, terms
of employment, working hours, rest days and holidays are subjected to
routine reviews.

We endeavour to foster mutual communication and respect within
an inclusive working environment. The Group has zero tolerance for
discrimination in any forms related to age, race, gender, religion, family
status and strongly opposes any forms of forced labour and child
labour. To avoid the employment of illegal workers (including forced
and child labour), the recruitment team has implemented proper review
procedures, including checking of the job applicant’s identification
proof and proof of residential address.

At our restaurants, the work schedule of employees is arranged
based on our business needs. To ensure that employees’ rights to
statutory rest days are protected, we ensure that we have obtained
employees’ confirmation and consent on all arrangements through
effective communication. In accordance to relevant labour laws and
regulations, the Group also arranges suitable rest periods and rest
days. To minimise the financial impact on our employees as a result
of the closing down of restaurants, we do our utmost to reallocate the
affected staff to other operating locations.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Equal Opportunities Ordinances and other applicable laws
and regulations regarding employment matters.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group believes that staff development is key to the sustainable
growth for our business. Through strengthening our employees’
professional knowledge and skills, we provide our customers with
better quality of products and services. Through regular induction
and on-the-job training, our employees develop practical knowledge
and skills. These trainings include food safety and hygiene trainings,
which cover topics like food temperature, dish ingredients, foodborne
illnesses, personal hygiene and other operational practices. Regular
operation meetings are also arranged to facilitate the correct delivery of
information to various departments, stores and employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group highly recognises the importance of environmental
protection and strives to operate in a responsible manner. To ensure
environmental compliance and proper implementation of environmental
protection measures in our operation. We devote our efforts towards
optimising our resource consumption, as well as preventing and
controlling our emission and pollution. Through continuously engaging
our employees and customers, the Group strives to create long-term
environmental values for its stakeholders and the society.

The Group’s operation does not create significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION

With the understanding that one of the major environmental challenges
for Hong Kong is waste management, the Group handles the waste
generated from its operations through a holistic waste management
approach. During the reporting period, the Group did not generate
nor discharge any hazardous wastes (solid waste or sewage) to the
environment during its operations, while the non-hazardous wastes
generated mainly comprised of kitchen food waste, meal leftover,
waste cooking oil, packaging materials and other general waste.
To divert waste from the landfill, we strive to reduce waste disposal
through promoting reuse and recycling practices. For example, we
recycle carton boxes and reuse appliances and equipment that are in
good conditions whenever possible throughout our operations.

Food Waste

As we strive to reduce the amount of food waste generated, we have
adopted a wide array of measures to handle different types of food
waste. To avoid wastage from unsold prepared food, we monitor our
inventory from time to time to prevent excess procurement. To further
reduce wastage, we encourage our employees to carefully utilise all
ingredients and supplies. Customers are encouraged to request for
smaller portion meals to prevent leftovers.

Besides, we devote considerable efforts to promote food waste
recycling. For stores operating in shopping malls with a food waste
recycling program in place, we have shown our full support by following
the instructions and separating food waste accordingly for easier
handling.
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Waste Cooking Oil

As we commit to creating more environmental values in our operations,
we consciously handle one of the main consumable ingredients, waste
cooking oil, and sell it to qualified parties under the Waste Cooking Oil
Recycling Administrative Registration Scheme to minimise its adverse
impacts. Practical and high-value industrial products will be produced
from the recycled oil, such as biodiesel and soap.

Packaging Material

Against the backdrop of the pandemic and the rising popularity of
online delivery platforms, we are aware of the changing consumer
behaviour towards takeaway and delivery. The Group is mindful of the
environmental impacts created by the excessive use of disposable
food containers and utensils and have carried out multiple measures
to reduce packaging waste. For instance, we serve take-away orders
without disposable utensils and drinks consumed in-the-store without
plastic straws upon customers’ request. As long as there are no food
safety and quality concerns, we encourage our customers to live a
sustainable lifestyle by bringing their own reusable containers to order
take-away.

To tackle Hong Kong’s immense waste management challenge, we
will continue to explore the feasibility of adopting more environmentally
friendly and sustainable packaging design and materials.

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354). There was no violation and
punishment filed by the relevant regulatory authorities. The Group
will continue to pay close attention to the development of the waste
charging scheme and respond to the regulations proactively by
implementing new initiatives.
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ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS MANAGEMENT

Electricity consumption at our restaurant operations, which covers
procedures such as refrigeration, cooking and other daily operational
needs, account for a significant proportion of the Group’s energy
consumption. Meanwhile, a small portion of restaurants use towngas
as the major fuel for cooking. As a result, the major source of our
greenhouse gas emission is from consuming electricity, with a limited
amount of fugitive emission from refrigeration.

At our restaurants, we have initiated various energy saving measures
to optimise our energy efficiency performance. For example, we have
installed LED lighting at all restaurants. We also provide our staff with
constant reminders and tips relating to consuming energy wisely
and preventing unnecessary energy use during their daily duties. To
reduce excessive energy consumption during our daily operations,
the operation schedule of energy-intensive equipment allows for mass
processing at designated timeslots which is more energy efficient when
compared to the round-the-clock approach.

As we strive to improve our energy consumption performance, regular
monitoring and reviewing of the energy consumption at each store is
conducted by the F&B Operations Department and store managers.
If there are any discrepancies of energy consumption records to the
business performance observed, follow up action and rectification will
be conducted accordingly. The Group will continue to increase the
environmental awareness of its employees through internal trainings
and communication. Our senior management will monitor and review
the Group’s current emission patterns, targeting to make progress in
its air pollutant emission reduction with relevant go-green initiatives.

Looking ahead, the Group will keep close monitoring of its performance
on non-hazardous wastes generation and exploring possibilities for
optimising its waste management system through innovations and
technologies.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

RERMEEREER
RMERZENENER  BRRL  RERHE
MEHEEEFTESRE - fEK%Iam\iéjﬁE’MH
BALH - A - NEOERARRIERETER
SRR - Bt - RAMEERBHREIZREE
JHRE - MBULBIRREHRERR

BPEREBRRIRZEGMHEER - AELRIR
M RI o Plan - BPEMBEEEHLZELEDR
B o HPIMAEB TIREBSZERET - UiREMD
MEERBETREREL T LR - /R
AEEFTBEEFER  SEERENERF
RERATFESERHRBRETARENT - B
RIEEFERL - BERUEXES -

HRBRMB IR ZRRBRERR - EREERL N
DR ERER LR SR ENRERERES
o MBEMBEMAFBEEBRBTN - BERE
T AELRREEN - AEEKEERBAE
BIRERRESREREMNRARER - RANSHRE
BEERERMMeRAREBAMNHERES - §&

BBARR AR BB ER D = RS R PR E
RHERE -
BRI AEBESBRETEREELBERE

BYMNRE - WRRE
MER RS AIBENE -

?@éﬂ%ﬁ&&ﬁ]@ft/ \F?é;ﬁ



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL

The Group is conscious of the air and water emission produced from
its operations. We strive to minimise adverse environmental impact and
related public health issues caused from pollution through implementing
a range of preventive measures.

To capture cooking fume emission from food preparation, we install
range hoods and hydro-vents in all our restaurants. Moreover, we have
also installed grease traps to remove grease and other oily substances
in wastewater and liquid food waste during different food preparation
processes. To avoid the leakage of grease and oil into the wastewater
stream, the grease trap is regularly cleaned by our kitchen staff.

We have strictly controlled our emission and discharge to be within the
limits set out in the operating licenses of our operations. Our staff are
reminded to be aware of any abnormal conditions at emissions outlets
and responsibly report any known or suspected violation of regulations
related to hazardous discharge of air and water.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in full compliance with
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 358). There was no violation and punishment
filed by the relevant regulatory authorities.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is a global challenge that has been manifested in
altered weather patterns, extreme weather events and reduced supplies
of various resources. The Group pays constant attention on sustainable
business development and strive to improve its business resilience
against the potential climate-related risks. For example, climate change
will imply more frequent occurrences of extreme weather events, such
as super typhoons and flooding, so we will keep abreast of the climate
change issue and continue to refine our operation manuals. The Group
acknowledged that our business operations would be potentially
impacted due to the growing climate-related regulations imposed by
the Hong Kong Government or regulators. Planning ahead, the Group
will explore the opportunity of developing better strategies to mitigate
the negative impacts on our operations.
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To demonstrate our commitment to combat climate change and
reduce the environmental impacts of our business, the Group has
formulated the following environmental targets:

o Minimising greenhouse gas emission;

° Enhancing energy efficiency by upgrading thermostat controlled
and energy efficient air conditioning; and

° Increasing employee’s awareness for energy saving and
environmental protection.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group strives to promote inclusiveness and places respects
to different community groups. To this end, we not only provide
customers with quality food and services at reasonable prices, but also
create a barrier-free dining environment. We design our restaurants in
accordance to the “Design Manual: Barrier Free Access 2008” under
the Building (Planning) Regulation. Moreover, our employees are also
reminded to offer sufficient assistance to the customers with special
needs.

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group has been actively
participated various community engagement activities and supported
the social development by giving back to the communities in which it
operates. To show our support to the future leader of our society, the
Group made a direct donation of HK$5,250 during the reporting period
to the Future Stars — Upward Mobility Scholarships 2021 organised
by the Commission of Poverty in supporting secondary school
students to achieve their full potential and move upwards socially
from less privileged backgrounds. The Group will actively explore
more opportunities in pursuit of continuous contribution to the local
community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERRE

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Unit 2020/21 2021/22
Ef 2020/21F  2021/22F
Air Pollutants'
ERER
Nitrogen Oxides (‘NOx") emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 5.90 6.27
AR REMEDERE TR
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 0.03 0.03
HrRat e REBIMEDER T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions?
BERBHER
Scope 1 Emission Stationary combustion of Towngas tonne CO, equivalent 78.07 83.37
HE 15 BEREEREE WoaliHEe
Fugitive emissions (HFC and PFC) from tonne CO, equivalent 9.05 4.24
use of refrigerant?
FRELHES R @RS WS REE
MR ERmR)?
Total tonne CO; equivalent 87.12 87.61
“we WM-ELREE
Scope 2 Emission Purchased electricity*° tonne CO, equivalent 944.41 520.45
#E 25 SNEE NS W_aliEe
Purchased Towngas?® tonne CO, equivalent 18.10 19.33
IMNER R © M_&lixEe
Total tonne CO, equivalent 962.51 539.78
“we BM-glthER
Total greenhouse gas emissions Total tonne CO, equivalent 1,049.63 627.40
RERBGHERE “we WM-EREE
Intensity tonne CO, equivalent per HKD 13.50 10.12
million revenue
BE M-SltiHEs /BEATYE

REBIRHZR AR AR
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B #HERERRSE

Unit 2020/21 2021/22
B 2020/21%F 2021/22%
Waste Generation’
BYEE
Non-hazardous waste generated Food waste disposed? Kg 10,486 6,370
REEVELS RERBED® Tr
Waste cooking oil recycled® L 17,968 12,249
BEZERABEKE #
Office paper purchased' Kg 260 130
PARRBES T
Resources Consumption
BiRH#
Direct energy consumption Purchased Towngas? MWh 407.7 435.5
B ShEE R KEE
Indirect energy consumption Purchased electricity® MWh 2,392.1 1,369.2
RZaERE INEE KEB
Total energy consumption Total MWh 2,799.8 1,804.6
gELE #we KRk
Intensity MWh per HKD million revenue 36.1 29.1
nE KRk BEETHR
Water consumption' Total me 55,785 31,106
FKE™ we Ak
Intensity m? per HKD million revenue 719.7 501.7
%R UHK/ BEETRE
Packaging material consumption'? Plastic bag (Processing)' tonne 2.6 -
BEMBHEFE? BRI e
Plastic bag (Take away)™* tonne 2.1 1.3
BREERGONE)™ it
Foam/Plastic food container' tonne 22.3 14.6
¥AR/BHARMRAR" i
Total tonne 27.0 15.9
wme it
Intensity tonne per HKD million revenue 0.35 0.3
nE B/ BEATE
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Remarks:

The Group’s air pollutant emission was calculated based on “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the HKEX.

Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group included carbon dioxide (“CO,”),
methane (“CH,”), nitrous oxide (“N,0”) and hydrofluorocarbons (‘HFCs”).

Emission data relating to HFC emissions for refrigeration was based on the
“Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong” issued by the Environmental Protection Department and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department. The significant decrease on
fugitive emission was due to the reduction on purchase of refrigerants.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of
electricity sold published by Hong Kong Electric Investments and the CLP
Group in 2020.

The Scope 2 emissions and indirect energy consumption from purchased
electricity significantly decreased due to the disposal of the food processing
centre on 9 October 2020, the closure of some restaurants and the impact of
COVID-19 and its related restrictions.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of gas
production published by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company in 2020.

Due to the business nature of the Group, hazardous waste is not considered
as a material topic to the Group’s operation. Thus the quantity of hazardous
waste generated is not disclosed.

Figure was calculated based on an estimation with reference to the average
daily food waste generated from restaurants. The Group will explore means
to measure food waste disposed more accurately. The significant decrease
in food waste was mainly due to the closure of some restaurants, and the
reduction of overall sales volume.

Figure was calculated based on the waste cooking oil recycling records
provided by the restaurants. The significant decrease in waste cooking oil
recycled was mainly due to the closure of some restaurants and the reduction
of overall sales volume.

The office paper purchased has significantly decreased due to the closure of
some restaurants and increase in the consumption of recycled paper.

The significant decrease in water consumption was mainly due to the disposal
of the food processing centre on 9 October 2020 and the closure of some
restaurants.

Figure is compiled based on the purchase records of packaging materials.

FY 2021/2022 has zero consumption of plastic bag (processing) due to the
disposal of the food processing centre on 9 October 2020.

The consumption of plastic bag (take away) and foam/plastic food container
has significantly decreased due to the closure of some restaurants and the
reduction in overall sales volume.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE HEEX
Unit 2020/21 2021/22
B 2020/21%F 2021/22%F
Total Workforce™® Number 100 100% 78 100%
EEAHS AH
By Gender Male Number and percentage 20 20% 17 22%
B RIE 5 Exlkd ABRBESH
Female 80 80% 61 78%
peqid
By Age Age 30 or below 6 6% 7 9%
RERED 0BT
Age 31-50 42 42% 25 32%
31-505%
Age 51 or above 52 52% 46 59%
515% kA
By Employment Type Permanent 97 97% 73 94%
REBELES KA
Part-time 3 3% 5 6%

= Workforce indicators refer to the number of employees as at the end of the

Group’s financial year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERRE

Unit 2020/21 2021/22
B 2020/214F 2021/22%F
By Employee Category Senior management 4 4% 5 6%
EEEBERNES SREEAS
Middle management 5 5% 6 8%
HREEAE
Frontline staff 91 91% 67 86%
FIARE T
Average monthly employee turnover rate® Percentage - 8.2% - 8.9%
Y AERERKES ER
By Gender Male Percentage - 7.7% - 16.0%
BRI B D 2l ANt
Female - 8.3% - 7.4%
gegid
By Age Age 30 or below - 14.4% - 25.5%
RERE D 30BRFIAT
Age 31-50 - 7.2% - 13.6%
31-505%
Age 51 or above - 8.1% - 4.9%
S1 AL
16 Monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the leavers of each . AERERAXNDETABRBESHERNUZAA
month by the month end employee number of that month. The Average FEEBHBHE - FTHAEEERAETIRAT K
monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly FEEMAEI2EANTEY AEEE REARIE - HM
employee turnover rate of all 12 months in this financial year. Data in 2020/21 BHTEFEANEEF R T AEEERAE
has been restated due to an update of our calculation approach to better RHEIE - WH2020/21 FREIRAETT T Eil ©

reflect the average monthly employee turnover rate.
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RE HERERERS

Unit 2021/22
B 2021/22%

Employee development and training'’- '@

EEBRRE

Percentage of employees trained
ZEEB DL

Workforce trained by gender

BEMRESNWZIES

Female
2z
Male

Eees

Workforce trained by employment category

RERBERESNZIES

Senior management
SMEBRAB

Middle management
FRERAE

Frontline staff
HIARET

Average training hours received by employee

BEEZ M FIGE I EFE

Average training hours by gender
R BIE 5 H T R

Female
eg
Male

S

Average training hours by employment category

RERER 20 FEINER

Senior management
RREEAR

Middle management

PRERAE

Frontline staff
AIARE T

” Relevant figures have been disclosed from 2021/2022 onwards. L
it The methodology adopted for reporting on employee development and training 18

data set out above was based on “How to Prepare on ESG Report — Appendix
3: Reporting Guideline on Social KPIs” issued by HKEX.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERRE

Unit 2020/21 2021/22

By 2020/214F 2021/22%F
Health and Safety
REHEZ2
Work-related fatalities Number and rate 0 0% 0 0%
ATEREILT AR N 93
Lost days due to work-related injury Number of calendar day 0 N/A 127 N/A
ATEEAIIERE BEXH TiEmA A
Product and service-related complaints Number of cases 23 N/A 32 N/A
B 2 mn MR B v 5 EVE TiEHR TR
Products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety Number and percentage - 0% - 0%

and health reasons'”
Rzl FEmmAL RN EEEXERT HEREDL

Charitable donation HK$ 5,250 N/A 5,250 N/A
RERE BT TEA TEA
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT" HrEEEET
Unit 2020/21 2021/22
B 2020/21%F 2021/22%
Total number of suppliers Number - 50
HIE R 2 8L 2R
Number of suppliers by geographical  Hong Kong Number - 50
region
Rl B ey LR 2L B EoE #H

REaIRHER AR A7) 69
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Directors’ Report
EFEEHRE

The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the operation of Vietnamese-style casual dining
restaurants with 9 restaurants in Hong Kong, trading business and
other business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as at 31
March 2022. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company
are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. The
segment information of the operations of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (iii) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report, respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 83 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 95 of
this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, was approximately HK$38.4 million inclusive of share premium
and accumulated losses.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in
Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 187 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the shares during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group donated HK$5,250
to a charity.
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ESERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November
2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 29 November
2016 and its principal terms are summarized below:

(1

)

(3)

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

ELIGIBLE PERSONS

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (ii) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum of 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue on Listing Date and the subdivision
of shares of the Company approved on 24 August 2018 and
become effective on 27 August 2018, which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.
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(4)

()

(6)

(7)

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PERSON

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

OPTION PERIOD

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

MINIMUM VESTING PERIOD

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board
in the relevant offer of options.

PAYMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF THE OPTION

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.

(4)

()

(6)

(7)
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ESERE

@)

(9)

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

REMAINING LIFE

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further options shall be granted. All options granted and accepted
and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was
exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2022
and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date
of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jiangtao
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LU Sheng Hong
Ms. LI Jia
Mr. TAO Jingyuan

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (resigned on 30 April 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy
Mr. CHEUNG Miu
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Mr. LU Sheng Hong, Mr. TAO Jingyuan and
Mr. CHQOI Tze Kit, Sammy shall retire from office at the forthcoming
AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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ESERE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 17 to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. LU Sheng Hong, Ms. LI Jia and Mr. TAO
Jingyuan, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year, which will continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin, the former non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year, which was renewable automatically for successive terms of one
year commencing from the day immediately after the expiry of the then
current term of his appointment, and either the non-executive Directors
or the Company may terminate the agreement by giving the other
party not less than one month’s notice in writing. He resigned as non-
executive Director on 30 April 2021.

Each of Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG
Pak To, Patrick, being the independent non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the independent non-executive Directors or the Company may
terminate the agreement by giving the other party not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Number of Approximate

Shares held/ percentage of

interested the total

Name of Director Capacity Name of associated corporation (Note 1) issued Shares
it/ BEREZ HEERT

ROEE RAEH

Esps L) HEEEER (HHaE1) ZBAEAL

WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”) (Note 2)  Interest of controlled corporation

Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings

200,000,000 11.29%

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
(“Minsheng E-Commerce’) (Note 3)

TE(R%E]) (Hi2) REFEER REBHER(RINERAA
((REEME)) (53
Notes: L
(1) Interests in shares stated above represents long position. (1)  LaiFTEEZBRMmERSIET A -

(2)  These equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce were held by /®3I| R &l
EREHRN(ERAEE) Shenzhen Minshang Chuangye Investment Center
(Limited Partnership)*) (“Shenzhen Minshang Limited Partnership”) which
was owned by, among others, &JIIREERIEEEEHBRAF (Shenzhen
Minshang Development Investment Management Co., Ltd.”) (“Shenzhen
Minshang”) as to 98.4% and Mr. Wu as to 0.8%. Shenzhen Minshang
is owned by, among others, Mr. Wu as to 76.92%. As such, Mr. Wu was
deemed to be interested in 11.29% equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce.

) Minsheng E-Commerce is deemed to be one of the substantial shareholders
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) of the Company which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

@ RAZBAZZEBREAFIEREHAIZEREFTL(ER
AR ((RINREEREB S ﬁﬁfﬁ?ﬂwﬁ?sﬁﬁﬁ&
EFAEHPER T EERERETEGERA
((RYNEEDHEBI8.4%EX MR ELEHEEO. 8%
B o RIREAREHFBIEREEEFT6.92%
@mo Ft REEHGSARRETHRE 211.29%
REA R o
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Directors’ Report

ESERE

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2022, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, as follows:

ERERREHNHER

Brira MRS MIREES - RFERKEF
MRS - BB B A i AN 2 R S E AR AT
BRBIMFI L R EMERBRRERAREERAE
AEDZZBRARBEREGZERZGN(THESA
REBRERE) -

FRFEERREEMALIRELT
Bxin BRI HER R RE

FLEEFTAE  P2022FE3A31H U TNEER
ALT(WHFEEFXAQRZSITEHAE) R
HEROFHEEREZES BRI EXVEE?2
KD ESHE AT BEMERIORE + itk
RARBIREBERS LB EDIF3361& 2 HEE
GEZERMAMERSOARNT ¢

Percentage of

the Company’s

Issued

Number of Number of share capital

Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary Shares Derivative Shares (Note 3)

ERARE T

REBDH

TZRRER LLVE $:1:3:1 EERYE TERBHUE (M=E3)

MSEC Holdings Limited (‘MSEC Holdings") (Note 2) Beneficial owner 556,190,182(L) - 64.75%

MSEC Holdings Limited ([ MSEC Holdings]) (Fii3t2) ERXBEA

RUNMING International Limited (‘RUNMING”) (Note 2)  Interest of controlled corporation 556,190,182(L) - 64.75%
B AR A (TR ]) (fi7E2) REEER

Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Interest of controlled corporation 556,190,182(L) - 64.75%

Company Limited” (“Shanghai Yingzhao”) (Note 2)

HERRRAERER AR (L ERMR]) (2 REEE RS

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022



Directors’ Report

EsEeRs

Percentage of

the Company’s

Issued

Number of Number of share capital

Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary Shares Derivative Shares (Note 3)

ERARE R

REBAL

TZRRER LLYVE $:1:3:1 EERYE MERBHUE CES)

Beijing Ruitao Technology Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 556,190,182(L) - 64.75%

(“Beijing Ruitao”) (Note 2)

TREENEEREARR(REHE]) (52 REEEER

Minsheng E-Commerce (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 556,190,182(L) - 64.75%

RegR(HE2) REEEER
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

2. As at 31 March 2022, 556,190,182 Shares were held by MSEC Holdings.
MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by RUNMING which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Beijing Ruitao
which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As such, Minsheng
E-Commerce, Beijing Ruitao, Shanghai Yingzhao and RUNMING were deemed
to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC Holdings.

3. The percentage is calculated based on the total number of 858,918,182
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company are aware, as at 31 March 2022, no corporation/
person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had any interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

1. [LIFRERZALREERD TR

2. MW2022%F3A31H * MSEC Holdings# &
556,190,182/% i% 5 = MSEC Holdings/ B4 % & ¥
£ MB%HAESRBE2ERE - LBABHIER
BEZERE MUIREERREEN2EHS -
Hit - REER - L REH - LR RERESE
APAMSEC Holdings# B #e# 2 IR Bt ©

3. BOL TR R2022F3A31HE 1T 2R 128
858,918,182k 514

B EXPTIEEEI  MEZFRARAERSITHA
BFRTHIZ - M202243HA310 @ MEE®E, A+
(WIHEEHXARRZREITHABR) R KL XIEHE
& D HEE R IR B R E KA EXVEBE 235
R BETHRENERSIAR » KERENRARQ
RIBIEE SRS KN EI6KZREETFEL
ERMAAEMERTORE ©

EFNMERGHER

REE2022F3A31B IFE » HESENER
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ESERE

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the following
continuing connected transactions:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October
2021, the following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company:

PROVISION OF LOANS

Loan agreement 1

On 8 October 2021, A& R AIRIEFRE(RINER 27 (Qianhai
Minshang Creative Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited*,
“Qianhai Minshang”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary
established in the PRC with limited liability entered into a loan
agreement with JRYIFESBRFE BR A F (Shenzhen Tai Rui
Financial Services Company Limited*, “Shenzhen Tai Rui”), the
Group’s fellow subsidiary established in the PRC with limited liability,
pursuant to which, Qianhai Minshang agreed to provide a credit line
up to RMB8,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,000,000)
(“Credit Line 1”) to Shenzhen Tai Rui for a term of 3 years, expiring
on 7 October 2024 and carry interest of 8% per annum from the
drawdown date. Shenzhen Tai Rui was given unlimited guarantee by &
INTH R P B E HER B PR 2 B) (Quanzhou Minshang Financing Guarantee
Company Limited*), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Minsheng
E-Commerce established in the PRC with limited liability.

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding principal was Nil, and the
associated interest income of Credit Line 1 for the year ended 31
March 2022 was approximately HK$277,000.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

EFNBERNRFEEZRH

AN B SR E AR AR B 2 B SRR R M B A R SIERR
REN ERFREMEERFR2ERT AR E
B BEESARREAR RS EMERE
Betn sk ERERE < 77 AN E/ et o

HERMABMAXZS

 REEETUTRERERS

BAARBHE A2021F10ASHN A SR ESE
N REB TR SEK AR BIFERERS :

REER
B i=1

MR2021F 10888 + ARAIZ 2 EMWE A A A
BRBAESFRFRINDERAR(MBERE
B (—ERPBEKIcBRAR)HEAEE 2 F
ZMBRARFY ZESBREER AR (TR
RE)(—HRFEKIZERAT L —HE
R Bl AERBRAERIRIFERME
EEEERZ A ARYS,200,0007T (FHE R
10,000,000 ) ((EBEE1]) - BEZFI R
2024F10A7HfER + B BRI A PREFEF =R
8%:tB - FYNFEERLEEH I EWERQR
EMNTRAEAMEERERAR (—HMRFPBEKTZ
BRD D RBER BIER o

MR2022%F3A31H ' MEXREELR:  REZE
2022F3A31B IEFERBEERE1F BERAL
/277,000 7T °



Loan agreement 2

On 8 October 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with RUNMING, an intermediate holding company of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company agreed to provide a credit line up to
HK$10,000,000 (“Credit Line 2”) to RUNMING for a term of 3 years,
expiring on 7 October 2024 and carry interest of 8% per annum from
the drawdown date.

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding principal was HK$10,000,000,
and the associated interest income of Credit Line 2 for the year ended
31 March 2022 was approximately HK$204,000.

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The Board has confirmed that the auditor
has issued an unqualified letter in respect of the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 56 of Chapter 14A
under the Listing Rules and reported the results in this letter to the
Board. A copy of the auditor’s letter was submitted to the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Certain related party transactions set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements constitute de minimis continuing connected
transactions and are fully exempted from the connected transaction
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Report
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ESERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately HK$820.2 million or 90.1%
and HK$664.8 million or 73.0% of the Group’s total revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2022 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for approximately
HK$633.7 million or 72.6% and approximately HK$216.3 million
or 24.8% of the total purchases of the Group’s total purchase
respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2022, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Material subsequent events after 31 March 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report are disclosed under the sub-section “Events After the
Reporting Period” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.
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ESERE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

i
pwc

To the Shareholders of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings
Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 95 to 186, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

3% B ED RS

R K

BRBEANERERD ARR
(RESRBEMA LY ERAR)
BER

B ETHNAR

REEIMZERERAAATEEIEAR ) RE
MBARUATREEREDIIHNEIBE186H
MR A M mE - B

20229 3 A31 AR A ISR R ¢

s HEZALFEMNGSEZERGSER

gt
H
I\

AL MRA B E

op

Rt
&

: =X

s HERALFENGRARERER N

s KRAMBHEAME ERIZEHBRREHE
fARRERER

: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BY ZEENRE

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Revenue recognition of trading business in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”)

o Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
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Key Audit Matter
BERETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY ZEENRE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFTNAEERREETEE

Revenue recognition of trading business in the PRC

MBIz B 5 %% 2 W

Refer to notes 2.19 and 4.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

BB mEANFE2.19%4.1(g)

In accordance with the criteria prescribed by HKFRS 15, the
Group evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether revenue
should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
BEEENBRERNFISRRELRE - HEEFNMG
HEREBREGEBREPULZTASIREATE - UEE
Wi R G EIRAESOFEEEAR -

Significant management’s judgements are involved that the
management has considered, individually or in combination,
of the following factors in the determination of principal or
agent:
ERBRETEZERAXREARE@ARNHKRZEATHE
EPREREREHE

° whether the Group has obtained control on specified
goods before it is transferred to its customers;
e EBEEEEMTFEERFTEMAIIESCHSEGE

° whether the Group is primarily responsible for the
fulfilment of the revenue contracts;
s EBERERTFZABRITHZEAHL:

Our procedures in relation to principal versus agent
consideration mainly included:

BPERRAAEREAZZEENEFEIREE

° Discussing with management to obtain an
understanding of the Group’s business model and
the judgements applied by management in the
determination of whether the Group acts as a principal
or agent;

e HWEEBENBUATHR BEEEEBEARFEER
BRET BEEREURTEATRIBAITERE
FA B H

° Assessing the determination performed by management
by reviewing the purchase and sales contracts and
other supporting documents, and the assessment
performed by management on whether contract terms
are supportable for principal versus agent consideration,
in accordance to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e RERTEENNRTE  BHRBREESHRE
X FEX M B REETCETE  AREEEMR
BRGEREEAXFHREABRIEANZ EET 2
(G

° Inspecting the contracts and performing independent
search to assess whether they are contractual/tripartite
agreement among the Group, customers and suppliers
which will impact the presentation, and to identify
possible related parties;

e FREHARARBYERMIGEER =ZFHERS
FER BEfEH - ZTRFMHERCE E8TEHEK
FWZ2FTE - AR S BRI sea BT

° Testing of revenue transactions, by examining the
supporting documents for the delivery and receipt; and

o BEXNRBRZERXM - AHAEKRRS &
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BY ZEENRE

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFTNAEERREETEE

Revenue recognition of trading business in the PRC (Continued)

Rz B 5 %%z Wi ()

o whether the Group is subject to the inventory risk; and
s ERERTHEBRFERR: KX

° whether the Group has discretion to establish prices.
e EHEERAUNBEEERS -

As a result of management’s assessment, the Group
recognised revenue from trading business in the PRC
amounting to HK$842,384,000 on a gross basis.
KERBENN - ESERAFEERIAZPIEESER
Wz Bl A842,384,00078 7T °

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude of
the revenue from trading business to the consolidated
financial statements and the use of significant management
judgements in determination of principal versus agent
consideration. The inherent risk in relation to the revenue
recognition of trading business in the PRC is considered
significant due to subjectivity in making accounting
judgement.
ENESHERBHPEHGEAMBRRNEAREREETE
ZRABRBAZEZERRERERNEREHE - WHME
ARULEE - RIBSTTOTEHE  PRESRE 2 WE
EREENERREREER/EKX -
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° Performing analysis on working capital movement and
turnover days for the trading business.
o OIMBIEBEEEREHRBEXRY -

We found, based on our audit procedures performed, that the
significant management’s judgements in the assessment of
revenue recognition were supportable with available evidence.
RBEMAETHNENET  RMEREREERT AR E
AMEXERENB A REIR -



Key Audit Matter
BERETER

Independent Auditor’s Report

BB AR S

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFTNAEERREETEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

M BERREUARCEAEEE ZBEFE

Refer to notes 2.8 and 4.1(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

FE2HM B mEANE2.8%4.1(0) °

The Group has a portfolio of leased properties used as
outlets for its restaurants. Management periodically assesses
whether there is any impairment indicator that property,
plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-use assets (“ROU”)
may be impaired.

EREEZHEEMEELREEZEME - EBET ST H
ERFEYE BELREB(ME  BERREDKER
BEE(CRAEEEDTERENERETR

Management determined that each individual restaurant is
a cash generating unit (“CGU”). For a CGU where there is
any indication of impairment, management estimates the
recoverable amount of the PPE and ROU using the value
in use method and determines if provision is required by
comparing the carrying amount of the PPE and ROU with
its recoverable amount. The value in use of the PPE and
ROU is estimated using discounted cash flows forecast
over which management makes judgements on certain
key assumptions, including revenue growth rate, operating
margin of the relevant restaurants and the discount rate
applicable to the CGU.
EREETSRERAR—BAReEABEN(REELE
f2]) - RFEEARETRZRELELMNE - EBE
NMAEBEEEGAYE BEMRBAREREEEL
AREISRE - WEBKYE  BERREAREREEE
ZEEEEAATEOSEETHR  BETROHEELE
weME BEMRBARERAEEENERBEMEDR]
R eMEBTABETMHEG - MARZERAF - BEERERE
TEIERREL G - 2EEREENREERE g2
MEEEReEFEMEANIEE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of PPE and ROU
included:

BMEEYE  BERREARGEAREEZRENRETE
&

o Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
management’s internal control and assessment process
of impairment of PPE and ROU, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity and subjectivity;
and

e THMEFNGHEEEHYE BEMARBANERESR
ERE 2 AERESI REHEBEE - WRBERME 2T
BEMBEEAREMELFHESHMERRARE X
ZKFEHEEABRER M 2 EARR &

o Obtaining an understanding and evaluating
management’s determination of CGU and identification
of impairment indicators by enquiring the management
on their basis of identifying impairment indicators,
challenging the judgements made in the identification
of impairment indicators, and comparing current year’s
performance of CGU with impairment indicators to
budgeted performance.

o  HBAEHAMNBEEENER FAHEETERE - THRKY
HEREHRSELABUYEF MRERRZER
BREBMPBERSEREMEZHE  URBREES
Bz AFERREMEEREEERTETLR

REAIRHERBR QA
2022F F 3
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFTNAEERREETEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

¥ BERREUAREREEE ZREFG(E)

Management also periodical assesses whether there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of the PPE and ROU since the last
impairment loss was recognised, which may suggest a
reversal of impairment loss recognised in prior periods.

BEENEMFGE LAERREBRRAREEDE

BERREURERREETROSHES Gt R TR
fb - AR R B SRR E R REEE -

Per management assessment, the Group recognised
impairment losses on PPE and ROU of HK$36,000 and
HK$806,000, respectively during the year ended 31
March 2022, where no reversal of impairment losses was
recognised as no change in the estimates was noted by the
management.

BIEEEENG  8iE2022F3A31BLEFE - A5H
DHBRYE  BERZREUARGERAEEE 2 REEE
36,000/ 7T &2.806,000% 7T + HF BN EREW T EL
AT HIRE S - BURRERRERSEED -

We focused on auditing the impairment of PPE and ROU
because the estimation of recoverable amount is subject to
high degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in
relation to the impairment assessment of PPE and ROU is
considered significant due to complexity and subjectivity.

BMPEINETVE BELRBUAREREEEZR
B EARAELEEE ARG ZEETEELRR -

HREMEREENE  BYE  BERREUAREREER
EZREMEEBEZEERRERSBEX
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For CGUs where there were indicators of impairment, we
performed procedures to assess and corroborate the key
inputs to their respective discounted cash flows forecast (the
“DCF”) used in determining the recoverable amount of the
PPE and ROU, including:
HEBETRNRSEAEMNS - RPCHEEDE - B
BEREBARGERAEEEA DRSS FEBEZEFRAERANEBR
RIS RETBANTRRBEREFBA DETER - UFER
RERTFZWASE  FHEFEHE

o Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of
key assumptions used in the DCF, including revenue
growth rate and operating margin, with reference
to management’s development plan and historical
performance of the relevant restaurant;

e ZEEBREZERASINEBMERZABERE MG
FERPRERAeRERACA FEZ2RFZ(BEER
BRERNGENBER) A2

o Assessing the methodology adopted and the
mathematical accuracy of the underlying DCF
calculation including the discount rate used in the DCF
with reference to external market data and assistance of
internal valuation experts; and

o  FHMEFMIEAZAEREEMREeRERAGTECE
i EwEM - BIE2ZINETHIHEERANBHEZR D
EJJZESIEIEi/ME%E E‘JCP@EﬁHZﬁEiEY M

° Considering whether the management’s judgements
made in selecting the valuation techniques, significant
assumptions and data for the valuation would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

e ZREEEARZEMGLERN HEZEERIXNEIE
RiELZ B R R GEA TR BERERE ZER -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the
significant judgement and assumptions made by management
in the impairment assessment of PPE and ROU were
supportable with the available evidence.

RIBFAMITZIEF  HPIBREEERYE - BE RREBIA
RfEAEEEREN G EDZ EXAE RERRIERE

7o



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY ZEENRE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY ZEENRE
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay Gabiriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEREBRR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ~ # 220224331 H 1FF/E

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FExT FHET
Revenue from principal activities: FEEKWE 5
- Vietnamese-style restaurant business -BXEEER 62,075 77,516
- Trading business -BH5EW 842,384 1,495,278
— Other business - EfhER 5,872 12,742
910,331 1,585,536
Cost of food and beverages B mn A B AR (17,733) (20,196)
Cost of inventories sold from trading business B Z %2 EF &5k & (839,615) (1,481,563)
Cost of revenue for other business E At ZE TSI AR B AR - (1,098)
Employee benefit expenses EERFAX 9 (24,227) (29,804)
Depreciation and amortisation e i g (13,227) (21,190)
Property rentals and related expenses MRS BB (3,364) (6,770)
Fuel and utility expenses BmR AR EERY (2,266) (2,448)
Advertising, promotion and marketing expenses B2 - {28 & #EER (15,988) 412)
Impairment losses on property, plant and M - BE KRB RERE
equipment 14 (36) (714)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FREEEZRERE 15 (806) (3,370)
Provision for impairment losses on CREEREBERE
financial assets (175) (1,216)
Other operating expenses HEMaeEmsy (18,051) (18,526)
Share of post-tax profit of associates DI E R A 2 BRELE 16 8,940 17,476
Other income and other gain H AU A K E b Uk 25 6 9,958 16,327
Finance income, net BEUWAFEE 7 1,544 1,371
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSBLAT (B51R), R F 8 (4,715) 33,403
Income tax expense PRSI XX 11 (1,338) (7,896)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE),ER (6,053) 25,507
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2w
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: — FJEEF HIEE B2 HE -
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBEENERZE
foreign operation
- Group - KEE 1,195 1,105
- Associate Nl (133) 1,479
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ERDEEE)WHEAE
for the year (4,991) 28,091

BN ERERAR
20205 5H 9O
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243H31H I- F/E

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B = FiExT FET
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AT AL (L (B518), SR F -
Shareholders of the Company ZiN/NET )3 (6,029) 25,550
Non-controlling interests FEIERR i (24) (43)
(6,053) 25,507
Total comprehensive (Ioss)/income L TALEEZE(EIR),
attributable to: Wes 8% -
Shareholders of the Company ZIN/NET )3 (4,962) 28,137
Non-controlling interests eI (29) (46)
(4,991) 28,001
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to ARAGIRRELZR(EER),
shareholders of the Company AT
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share BREAREE (BB, &BF
(HK Cents per share) (TR 13 (0.70) 2.97

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should g2 EmlREs
be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEeEMEBERAE

As at 31 March 2022 20223/ 31H

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FHT FHET
Assets EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BE L& 14 53 977
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 15(a) 9,997 13,251
Intangible assets EmIEE 1 3
Investments in associates REEE N RINIRE 16 91,420 90,051
Loan to an associate M — RN AR EERK 16 15,000 =
Rental and utilities deposits S UNEES %0 19 2,730 7,154
77777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 119,201 111,436
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 111 118
Trade receivables Z 5 W IE 18 339 326,365
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEfFIE ~ 24 R E M
FEM FRIE 19 44,882 48,988
Contract assets BREE 5 = 271
Loan to intermediate holding company M EER AR ER 20 10,204 =
Financial asset at amortised cost BHEN T ECCRERE 21 - 25,165
Loan to an associate m— M E AR REER 16 - 15,000
Current income tax asset BNHAFTIS T & &= 111 127
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeFEY 23 23,790 32,287
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 79,437 448321
Total assets mEE 198,638 559,757
Equity e
Equity attributable to shareholders AR RREGEERS
of the Company
Share capital f& 7 29 2,147 2,147
Other reserves H bkt 156,085 155,018
Retained earnings REEEF 279 6,308
158,511 163,473
Non-controlling interests IR ER (108) (79)
Total equity RS 158,403 163,394

REBIRHZR AR AR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRR K

As at 31 March 2022 202293/ 31H

2022 2021
2022%F 2021%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Other payables and accruals HAh et kI8 R EETE A 25 573 1,225
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(a) 4,488 5,479
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFEHAE 27 3,893 3,094
8,954 9,798
Current liabilities =R
Trade payables g 5 N FIE 24 577 322,707
Other payables and accruals HAh e sRIE R EETE A 25 13,783 20,089
Contract liabilities BHERE 28 5,936 11,697
Bank borrowing RITIEK 26 = 11,819
Other borrowing HAb g 26 111 =
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15(a) 9,875 16,886
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFRE I B & 999 3,367
31,281 386,565
Total liabilites wa®| 40285 =~ 396363
Total equity and liabilities HEZRERE 198,638 559,757

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 186 were E95E 186 B MR & M KR E F202266 A30

approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and were signed BiEEEeETHATREESE -

on its behalf.
Wu Jiangtao Tao Jingyuan
RIIE e
Director Director
= EE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read AR A MRS AR R P B RE B I s — HERIRE o

in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEERgBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ~ # 220224331 H 1FF/E

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

ANARFES
Retained
earnings/ Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve  reserve losses) Total interests equity
REBF,/
BRE  ROGE REARE EXREE (RitBR) B FERER s
(Note 27) (Note)
(Ftzz27) GiE=3)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
T T THT TR THT THT THT T
At 1 April 2020 F2020F4A18 2,147 152,633 342 (544) (19,242) 135,336 (33) 135,303
Profit for the year FRHEM - - - - 25,550 25,550 (43) 25,507
Other comprehensive  E 2 E U/
income/(loss): (B8) :
Currency translation ~ EH A& =%
difference - - - 2,587 - 2,587 @) 2,584
Total comprehensive 2 HE %
income - - - 2,587 25,550 28,137 (46) 28,091
At 31 March 2021 and 7420213 H31H
1 April 2021 %2021F4A18 2,147 152,633 342 2,043 6,308 163,473 (79) 163,394
Loss for the year FREE = - - - (6,029) (6,029) (24) (6,053)
Other comprehensive A2 E4ES
income:
Currency translation ~ S HE =%
difference = - - 1,067 = 1,067 (5) 1,062
Total comprehensive 2 EEEEE
loss - - - 1,067 (7,429) (6,362) (29) (6,391)
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H 2,147 152,633 342 (3,110) (279) 158,111 (108) 158,403

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the
operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal

Mz BAREEREBEEAMEEZZEMNBARKRA

EARNBBEHIMEETRAREZ 5 -

value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with accompanying notes.

bR A w2 B Bh 5K 8 B Y B R — OFBAFE -

REBIRHZR AR AR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEReRER

As at 31 March 2022 202293/ 31H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHAESRERE
Cash generated from operations KERERS 32(a) 7,087 50,315
Interest received B UH B 2,273 2992
Hong Kong profits tax refund, net REBANGHFHE 16 116
PRC profits tax paid, net B RIS FE (2,724) (925)
Net cash flows generated from KL TEBFTE
operating activities WeREFE 6652 52,498
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFRBRERE
Payment of property, plant and equipment ME - BB REENR = (27)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWSE  BEREZE#HZ
plant and equipment FriSskIE 32(b) = =
Payments for financial assets at RESHRATTEZ
amortised cost TREEMNK = (25,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at & ZE KA B 2
amortised cost TREEZABHIA 25,000 15,000
Loan advanced to intermediate holding M EERARRE ZER
company (10,000) -
Proceeds received from disposal of HENB AR ZFEFIE -
subsidiaries, net of cash disposed HBRHERS = 3,997
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) wEEEIE,(FTH)
investing activities RepgFsw 15000 (6,030
Cash flows from financing activities METBESEESRE
Repayment of bank borrowing EBIRITHER 32(c) (11,819) =
Proceeds from other borrowing H b E RTS8 32(c) 11,392 =
Repayment of other borrowing EEHMER 32(c) (11,283) (12,226)
Interest paid BERFE (897) (2,345)
Repayment of principal element of lease EEHEaBE ASED
liabilities 32(c) (17,903) (27,317)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMBESAAR S REFE (30,510) (41,888)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRRSEBUERED)
cash equivalents #hnE 58 (8,858) 4,580
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FYREMREEEY
of the year 32,287 28,481
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash [EXSHLHNE KRS EEY
and cash equivalents -2 361 (774)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FREGRRESEEY
of the year 23 23,790 32,287

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is located at Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong,
and trading business and technology services business in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

Amendments to standards and
framework adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments to HKFRS issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKAS
39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

The adoption of amendments to HKFRS 16 provide
the Group an opportunity to select the treatment
of recognition of rent concession, either treating it
as other income or lease modification. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Group has selected
to recognise rental concession amounting to
HK$511,000 (FY2021: HK$2,340,000) as other
income, please refer to note 6 for the details.

The adoption of other amendments to standards and
framework listed above did not have any impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

2 EXEBRBERmw

21 REEE@®)

(a)

REE R EIEETER
RAEZR

R2021F4 1 HFEBMEER
EHRE  REBCEREALT
HEACTIAS ((HFEE
DY DBEMGERN KBRS
B sk 42 -

BRGTERE39  FIXEE

% BAMKERE WE-

ERIE4% - B F2RER

BTSSR AR T

% BBUKRE

ERIFOHERES

BsmE£AIE

1655 (IEETAN)

ERUBREER  2021F

F165% (IB7] ) 6A30H
et 30
20197 AR
RER
viEleabickea

RWEBYBERELERFE165
(BRI EAEE AR EER
RENERARN - IERAE
R A KB EEET - #FE2022
FIABIBIEFEE  KNEBEEE
#5780 &R aE511,00078 7T (202184
£ 1 2,340,000/ 7T) FER A H M
WA - FIEBE2HWE6 -

PR _E P 2 E A B RT 2 R
RAEZRIA B E R B R
MERERERNZE  AFEHT
SHE HSRRIEERERY
@,



2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New amendments to standards and (b)
accounting guideline not yet adopted

The following new and amended standards,
improvements, interpretation and accounting guideline
have been issued that are not mandatory for financial
year ended 31 March 2022 and have not been early

adopted by the Group:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
REUAT B
ZEBBRN
S HBEN

Amendments to HKFRS 3

FREMBHRE L FIRUSFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 16

BEGHERFE165E (EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 37

EBUIER

WEE375% (1B RTA)

Annual improvements 2018 — 2020
cycle

20184F 2 20204F 3 B ) £F [& i

Revised Accounting Guideline 5

ERECEIEACS Y

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEEGHEAEIRUBFTA)

Business Combinations — Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

EBa0 - B ERN R

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

M - BER&E - (ERE RSB AR PSR

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets — Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

B IABBERIREE - BES
KB AR

# - BT8R

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs (Amendments)

EREM B E LR FEBCE (BRTA)
Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations

HKREZEH G A EFHE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

H% 1§§7\§§7%//u,@1j33|5/m@

1 January 2022

20221 H1R

1 January 2022

20221 H1H

1 January 2022

20221 A1R

1 January 2022

20221 A1H
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20221 A1H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New amendments to standards and (b)
accounting guideline not yet adopted

(Continued)

21 REEE@®)

sl @
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Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
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Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BB ERE1RRE BN

SEUEBBAE2R(ETA)

Amendments to HKFRS 17
BB SRS LRI E 1758 (55T A)

HKFRS 17
BAMBRELRSEATH

Revised Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)

EBEREFELIR(2020%F) (K{EE])

Amendments to HKAS 8
ARG ERESHEUSFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB EAFE125(BETA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 &
HKAS 28
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New amendments to standards and

accounting guideline not yet adopted
(Continued)

The Group’s management is still assessing the impact
of those amendments to standards and accounting
guideline that are not yet effective and that are not in
apart to commit material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING

(i

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred assets. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case when the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (iii)below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in note 2.8.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

23

24

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from the investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(@) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in
other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within ‘other operating expenses’.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
(Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect to the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expense are
translated at the date of the transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM”). The CODM has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, who make
strategic decisions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or

equipment 5 years

Computer equipment Shorter of lease term or
5 years

Furniture and fixtures Shorter of lease term or
5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other income’, in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of trademarks over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(i

(ii)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities
in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in “other income and
other gains/(losses)” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2 EXEBRBERmw

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

29 TREEREE®

(iii) Measurement (Continued) (iii) FFE@

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other income and other gains/(losses)”.
Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “other income and other gains/(losses)”,
and impairment expenses are presented as separate
line item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other income and other gains”
in the period in which it arises.

BT A (&)

B BEFARMEE RS
A ENRE MRS RENEE
FHESRMEE  ZFEENSR
EREE/INAERFE - A
B BEARMEEKER
B - RHEZFTARMEER
= MR ERESEE - R
AR BE s e B RN R s
ReNRIEERAEHEER - T
AL E A 2 T W s FERR ) R ETUR
AR EEHEREN N BERE
I T EAD WA R B A e as (85
B IER - ZEEREEMSH
BUWATHR B BRR A AT AR
BN o [ S U R BRI E
A R E Az (518) |2
5 MAERXRBERTIAE
BIHE 27 -

BofBEFARR  HEER
BN A RBHRATEIIZAA
EBEF AR M2 HKENRE
AR AR EEFARSE - H
BREANBEFABRRTENE
BRENPSEREBRN B S
R YREEERERIE MK
ARE U IR IAFREZ ) o

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F

113



114

Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other gain” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note
3.1(c) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXEBREEmw

POLICIES (continued)

2.10INVENTORIES 21078

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises invoiced cost less purchase
rebates. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.11TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 17 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1(c) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

2.12CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

2.13SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 27).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

78 AR PR B R B3R FE M & P Y
BIEEIIR - KARAEELELEE
E o RABRERBEERABBET -
A2 FES—REFBETHMET
EERERNAIEHERNX

B 5 REAEWRE

BHRBFKARN —REBBEF
EEEmACIRHREMEREFH
R - HE 5 REAM R SRTAE A
R—FHARKE (IR EERGEE
BHIA - UBEERE) - AIDESR
HEE  TRIZ2IRIERPEE -

BHRWARBVISRERHERESE
BR BRIZSEFIRUFERESE
ABERKD @ BRFAIZEARBER
ReAEERBESHERRIENEH
BREEHNBRESRE  AUMHEEER
BERMEEIRBHEK AT EE HEK
FIE - BRANEERYHE S ERFIED
BHRENELER  B2HWE
17 MBBASBERREBRRZHA
EElblIESRICE

212RERBEEEY

RREARERERANZIIME - R
MR EFEVERETHEARE 2/
BEAHER  Nr2BEE=FEA
A RE) B AR A B = R 1 IR A (R BE
REmBEAeRASAEEEPA
BRETEN) MRITE

213K

BRRD B AR (ME27) - BITH
B tn B 32 FE A5 O 37 18 AR AN TR A 2 R PA
PRSSRIBMEBRIR FRIRR) SRR -

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F

115



116

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.14TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

These amounts represents liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.15BORROWINGS AND BORROWING COSTS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXEBREEmw

POLICIES (continued)

(Continued)

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period which
they are incurred.

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.17EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
nonmonetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Pension obligations

For Hong Kong employees, the Group contributes
to the mandatory provident fund scheme for eligible
employees, the assets of which are held in a separate
trustee-administered funds.

For PRC employees, it is covered by various
government-sponsored pension plan under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government
agencies are responsible for the pension liabilities to
these retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

In Hong Kong, employees who have completed a
required number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment, provided that such
termination meet the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the Group
has formally announced the bonus payments to
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXEBREEmw

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 PROVISIONS 2181 1%

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenues are recognised when
goods are transferred or services are rendered to the
customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract, service may be
provided over time or at a point in time. Service is provided
over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

° time-based measure of progress; or

o the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation

If contracts involve the provision of multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated from each
performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices.

Before determining the transaction price to be allocated
from different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles in the
contract and adjusts the transaction price for variable
considerations and significant financing component, if any.
The Group includes an amount of variable considerations
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for the services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. In addition, incremental costs incurred to
obtain a new contract, if recoverable, are capitalised as
contract cost and subsequently amortised when the related
revenue is recognised.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the
simplified approach which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance. For further details, please refer to Note 3.1(c).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXEBREEmw

POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) 2.19 Uz 7 52 ()

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to deliver the
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer. A contract
liability is recognised by the Group when the customer
pays consideration but before the Group deliver the goods
or services the service to the customer. Contract liabilities
mainly included the advance payments received from the
trading business provision of initial set up services for the
customers using the Group’s software.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue streams of the Group.

() Revenue from Viethamese-style
restaurant business

The Group operates a chain of restaurants. Revenue
from restaurants operation is recognised at a point in
time when catering services have been provided to
the customers.

(ii) Revenue from trading business

In accordance with the principal versus agent
considerations prescribed by HKFRS 15, the Group
evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether
revenue should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
The Group is acting as the principal if, individually
or in combination, it controls the specified good or
service before being transferred to the customer,
is primarily responsible for fulfilling the contract,
is subject to inventory risk, and has discretion in
establishing prices. An agent arranges for goods or
services to be provided by the principal to its end
customer, which normally receives a commission or
fee for these activities. Revenue from trading business
is recognised at the point in time when the control
of the merchandise has been transferred when the
goods are delivered.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

(iii)

Revenue from other business

The Group provides software customisation services,
and licenses technology solutions as Software-as-a-
Service (“SaaS”).

Under the software customisation service agreement,
the Group customises the software based on the
requirement of the customers. Revenue is recognised
when control over the customised software has been
transferred to the customer. The customers cannot
receive and consume the benefits simultaneously
from the Group as well as control the customised
software until the software delivered to the customer.
The customised software generally has no alternative
use for the Group due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does not
arise until customised software transfer to customer.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customised software is passed to the
customer.

Under the SaaS arrangements, the Group licenses
the software platform for the customers’ use and
provides data management services to the customers
throughout the contract period. Service fee derived
by the Group from the SaaS arrangements are
determined based on the transaction volume of the
software platforms licensed and are recognised over
the service period.

2.20INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes and financial asset at amortised
cost calculated using effective interest method.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial

asset

except for financial assets that subsequently become

credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset, after deduction of the loss allowance.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

2 EXEBRBERmw

2,19 W = &2 (@)

(i) HAibEK W

ANEE IR B T I AR AS FF Al
B iy i R 7 R BN A E M BN AR 7%
([saaS)) °

RIBEA E HIRG ek - AKE
RIBE P ZRE B R - Was
REBIEHFMIEHIRERTER
T IARER - REHFRMTTEP
Al &P AN [ AR AR B £ R AR
SEREHEAME - TR HIE
B - ARNA RS - NEE
B R AR A 77 AU A E
o R ERE R ERET
BEF®&  HeELABHIHITH
R » Btk - Weam i E B¢
BRETEPNRSHEN T IAMR -

BiESaaSTH - AEBERER
FERRHFE  WEEEEGLH
HREEFRESEEERE -
ANEEESaaSTHEE N RS
BIREEFIEGFTENRS
BT WHRBEHAER -

220 R B WA

MEBMAEHEBERREEEBNEE
B & B E E NI SR AN B R A
KEABZeRMEERDK 27 AR
BUA -

MBWATIRACHMEERKREERN
ERMNEFEERELSERERENS
BMEERSI) - EERESREEM
5 ERMEXERAREREEREF
BONRERBHEER) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2 EXEBRBERmw

2.21LEASES

As a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lesseg, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date,

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees,

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 LEASES (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

. any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXEBREEmw

POLICIES (continued)

2.22GOVERNMENT GRANTS 2.22 B AT BY

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values when there is a reasonable assurance that the grants
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

2.23DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group, no
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the individual group companies and net
investment in foreign operations.
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REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the
directors of the Company consider the Group does
not have any material foreign exchange risk exposure.
No sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. Financial assets and borrowings obtained
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. In the opinion of the directors, the expected
change in fair values as a result of change in market
interest rates will not be significant, thus no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact cash flows arising
from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s
assets and liabilities, which bear variable interest
rates, mainly include bank deposits. Other Group’s
assets and liabilities, including loan to an associate,
financial assets at amortised cost, bank borrowing
and other borrowing, bear fixed interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, if interest rates
had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss after taxation would have
approximately HK$54,000 lower/higher (2021: loss
after taxation would have approximately HK$119,000
lower/higher).

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate risk to
ensure there are no under exposures to significant
interest rate movements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRERM T
3 SMEREEREm®W
3.1 £EEAREZE@
(c) EERK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(c) Creditrisk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, contract assets, deposits and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan to
an associate and financial assets at amortised cost
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, which represent our Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. Management has a credit policy in place to
monitor the exposures to these credit risks on an
ongoing basis.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables and contract assets from third
parties.

Trade receivables and contract assets are mainly
related to the trading and other businesses in the
PRC.

(0 Trade receivables (Vietnamese-style restaurant

business)

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables was assessed individually on their
recoverability based on their credit profile and
forward-looking factors. The trade receivable
of restaurant business are mainly due from
payment channel agent. Based on their credit
profile and historical settlement records, the
directors believe there is no material credit
risk to these balance and the expected credit
loss of trade receivables was insignificant for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: same).
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the outstanding trade receivables as at 31
March 2022 were fully settled.
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REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables (trading business)

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables related to trading business was
assessed individually on their recoverability
based on their credit profile and forward-looking
factors. On that basis, the loss allowance as at
31 March 2022 was determined as follows for
trade receivables related to trading business.

3 ERREER@

3.1 £@EREZE @
(c) EERE @

(i)  EZEWHEEZER)
BT EBEHEEEE ®
BOEBBEBNESREK
RIBRIEE = AR & AT
EHEREEBTIHETK
O o L ER L EHE
SEBBBNE SRR
THR2022FE3A31HKNE
BREEEDT -

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) ZBREE(ARET ) 1,233 327,494
Loss allowance (RMB’000) EiEEEARETIT) (1,233) (1,129
Expected loss rate TEHRESE X 100% 0.34%

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables,
management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on their credit profile,
historical settlement records, past experience
and forward looking factors.

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverability
of other receivable from a counterparty of
trading business in the PRC, amounted to
HK$2,836,000 was uncertain and HK$130,000
impairment provision was made. The Directors
believed that there was no material credit risk
in the remaining balances of deposits and other
receivables and the expected credit loss is
insignificant (2021: the expected credit loss of
deposits and other receivables was assessed to
be insignificant).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

V)

(Vi)

(vii)

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks,
the Group only transacts with reputable banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There is no recent history of default
in relation to these financial institutions. The
expected credit loss was insignificant for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: same).

Loan to an associate

The loan to an associate is considered by
the directors to have low credit risk. By
using the forward looking rate to access the
corresponding credit risk, the default rates
is insignificant. The expected credit loss was
insignificant for the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: same).

Loan to intermediate holding company

At as 31 March 2022, the intermediate holding
company loan is considered by the directors
to have low credit risk as it has a low risk
of default. The expected credit loss was
insignificant for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Financial assets at amortised cost

At as 31 March 2021, financial assets at
amortised cost represented a listed corporate
bond. The corporate bond is considered by the
directors to have low credit risk as it has a low
risk of default and the issuer of the corporate
bond has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations. The expected
credit loss was close to zero for the year ended
31 March 2021.
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REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 21) on the basis of expected cash
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of each financial
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows, except for other borrowing
with a repayment on demand clause that is included
in the “on demand” time band. Balances due within
twelve months equal their carrying amounts, except
for bank borrowings and lease liabilities, as the impact
of discounting is not significant.
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(d)
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Between Between
On Less than 1and 2 2and 5
demand 1 year years years Total
REX DPR—F —ZWE MELE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THx FTEx TET THT
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3H31H

Trade payables B SR HE = 577 = = 577

Other payables and accruals H e 308 R e At
BH 5,845 4,383 = = 10,228
Other borrowing Hipfa® = 111 = = 111
Lease liabilities HEaE - 10,076 3,985 566 14,627
5,845 15,147 3,985 566 25,543

At 31 March 2021 R202153A31H

Trade payables B SN HE = 322,707 = = 322,707

Other payables and accruals H BT 308 R e st
&R 10,005 6,937 = = 16,942
Bank borrowing RITHER = 12,104 = = 12,104
Lease liabilities HEEE = 15,558 6,649 571 22,778
10,005 357,306 6,649 571 374,531
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis
of the other borrowing (subject to a repayment
on demand clause) based on agreed schedule
repayments set out in the loan agreement. The
amounts include interest payments computed using
contractual rates.

mEMBRRKE

3 ERREER@

3.1 &@EREE@®

(d) A ED M B ()

TERBARBEERBZERH <
15 7€ 32 K B ] 3R 2 B 8 R (2
BERERGFTRR) 22D
- BASBERBEEAAONX
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Between Between
Less than 1 and 2and 5 Over
1 year 2 years years 5 years
DPR—F —EWF MERF HBRF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THET FHET FHT FHET
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 111 - = =

3.2 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the total
borrowing to total equity ratio, which is expressed as a
percentage of total borrowings (including a bank borrowing
and an other borrowing) less cash and cash equivalents
over total equity as shown on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is in net cash position
(2021: same).

32 EXEmEE

AEEEREANBRRRERLAR
NEFERE  UABRREHRE®RMA
HiFhEREND  AREFRE
BEARRBAREERRA -

REFLAHBEARE  AEEHE
HEIMEROREHE - RERR
MER - BITHRIHEEENRD
&% -

REBRBEFERLE AR XA
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REMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

3.4

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets, including
loan to an associate, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at amortised cost and cash
and cash equivalents, and financial liabilities, including trade
payables, other payables and accruals, bank borrowing,
other borrowing and lease liabilities, approximate to their
fair values due to their short-term maturities. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for
similar financial instruments, unless the discounting effect is
insignificant.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2022
and 2021.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue recognition of trading
business in the PRC

The Group considers itself as a principal for trading
business in the PRC as the Group obtained control
of the specified goods before being transferred to
the customers because (i) the Group demonstrated
its primarily responsible for fulfilling the trading
contract, (i) the Group was subject to inventory risk
as the Group control of the goods before transferring
to customer, and (iii) the Group had discretion in
establishing prices in the contract agreed with
customer.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation expense for its
property, plant and equipment by reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will adjust the depreciation expense
where useful lives are less than previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in the
future periods.
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4.1 EXREFHEFTREBR @
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REMBRRME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(c)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets have been determined based
on the higher of its value in use or its fair value less
costs of disposal, taking into account latest market
information and past experience. These calculations
and valuations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal or net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
affect the net present value used in the impairment
test and as a result affect the Group’s consolidated
financial position and results of operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(d) Impairment allowances for trade
receivables, contract assets and other
receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables, contract
assets and other receivables are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Please refer to Note 3.1(c) for more details.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, who are the CODM
of the Group, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments (including the discontinued operations) based on a
measure of profit/(loss) before income tax. The measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from
operating segments.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is organised into the following
business segments:

(i) Vietnamese-style restaurant business in Hong Kong;

(i) Trading business in the PRC; and

@iy  Other businesses, including provision of software
customisation services and technology solution services

in the PRC, which started in the financial year ended 31
March 2021, as well as other corporate expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(Continued)

(@) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

The table below shows the segment information of revenue
and results and there were no revenue or other transactions
between the business segments for the year ended 31

&= 828 g 21¢ )

(a) ZEB KR ZFEAE

TRBERDBUWEREEER  BNE
FE2022%43A31HIEEFE » ¥ 0H
ZRAYERZHEMR S -

March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B E2022F3A31BLFE

Vietnamese-
style
Trading restaurant
Business business Others Total
ER¥ER HABEER Hitb st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT FET FER
Segment revenue e 842,384 62,075 5,872 910,331
Segment cost of revenue DEWE KA (839,615) (17,733) = (857,348)
Impairment loss on property, mE - BELEHEZ
plant and equipment HEEE = (36) = (36)
Impairment loss onright-of-use ~ FAREE 2 FEEE
assets - (806) - (806)
Provision for impairment losses &R EE 2 R{EEE
on financial assets B (175) = = (175)
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7& K # 4 = (11,980) (1,247) (13,227)
Finance cost BEM A (378) (480) (53) (911)
Finance income RERA = = 2,455 2,455
Others Hith (614) (30,397) (15,733) (46,744)
Segment results DEbELE (1,602) 643 (8,706) (6,461)
Share of post-tax profit of DEBERNB 2 BREE
associates il 8,940
Gain on deemed disposal of BIELEH BT
subsidiary 2 Was 1,442
Unallocated corporate expenses A2 Ei (bR (8,636)
Loss before income tax BRATS TR E R (4,715)
Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Segment assets for operating gEDH 2D HEE
segments 26,501 24,484 6,726 57,711
Unallocated corporate assets AOBEREEE 140,927
Total assets BEE 198,638
Segment liabilities for operating K& D2 DB E
segments 1,464 22,276 5,936 29,676
Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ RAEDEAE 10,559
Total liabilities raffE 40,235
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

5 BaksBEdEw@

(a) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (@) PEMEREEE

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BZE2021F3H831HILFEE

Vietnamese-
style
Trading restaurant
Business business Others Total
BI%EK HABEER Hih et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEL FHL FTAT THT
Segment revenue kil 1,495,278 77,516 12,742 1,585,536
Segment cost of revenue DR E AR (1,481,563) (20,196) (1,098) (1,502,857)
Impairment loss on property, ME - BEREE R
plant and equipment ERE - (714) - (714)
Impairment loss on right-of-use 1 FHEE E 2R EE B
assets - (3,370) - (3,370)
Provision for impairment losses & B &E 2 FEE1E
on financial assets el (1,216) = = (1,216)
Depreciation and amortisation 47 K i ¢ = (19,265) (1,925) (21,190)
Finance cost BEM A (1,037) (781) (56) (1,874)
Finance income RERA - - 3,246 3,246
Others Hith (1,326) (32,254) - (33,580)
Segment results DEPEE 10,136 936 12,909 23,981
Share of post-tax profit of DMEBE R B ZBRFE
associates i ) 17,476
Unallocated corporate expenses K9 e (M ¥F & (8,054)
Profit before income tax BT {SEE AR A 33,403
Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Segment assets for operating RENBHHEE
segments 366,765 44,508 18,980 430,253
Unallocated corporate assets AOBMEEEE 129,504
Total assets BEE 559,757
Segment liabilities for operating ~ && D2 HEEE
segments 343,942 37,079 7,092 388,113
Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ RAENEAE 8,250
Total liabilities rafrE 396,363

REBIRHZR AR AR
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REMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the loss incurred by/profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
depreciation and amortisation, directors’ emoluments,
finance (cost)/income, net and foreign exchange
differences, net. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Revenue by geographic areas is determined based on the
location of customers.

The following tables present revenue from external
customers and certain non-current assets information for
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, by geographical
area.

(i) Revenue from external customers

5 BaksBEdEm@

(a)

(b)

DEU S R EE @)

RESBOEBREANEE K
RAER - DA AT DOMELENE
B RIEEH - WA RS RITR
A FrENREE  EEME  BE
(RA) /WA FRE RN S = 5R0%
B o W ERD I R RIRFFERE
BRERRERENTE

i EE R
B B 2 WS TR IE R B FTE

B °

TREVNEHE20224F K20214E3 A31
BIEFERBESDHNIINEE P IR
LETFIEREBEEEE -

i) HEEF WS

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$’'000

T FHET

Hong Kong B 62,075 214,773
PRC s 848,256 1,370,763
910,331 1,585,536
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

(ii) Non-current assets

mEMBRRKE

5 KSR EBEEE

(b) HEER @
(i) FRBEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET

Hong Kong BH 12,824 21,385
PRC s 106,445 90,051
119,269 111,436

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes the deferred
income tax assets.

(c) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

LHIERBEEERTIREBEEE
PREEMETE B Y T BIERIERS
MEE °

(c) BEFEaWEZSE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET

Of which revenue is recognised: s AT 75 /R
— at a point in time - R 2, 904,459 1,584,486
- over time - BERF IR 5,872 1,050
910,331 1,585,536

ReaslRH=R AR A7
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REMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

Certain customers of trading business contributed more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year.

5 KERDEBEEE

d) FEEXEEFZEHR

FR BHEBZATEPERASE
BB B10% ZETFP 2

The amount of revenue of these customers are disclosed SRWHEWNT ¢
as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A BEA 664,764 367,416

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATED TO
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group has recognised the following assets and

() BEFAVMEBAZEERAE

AEECHERTIETFEHOMERZ

liabilities related to contracts with customers: BELEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT THET

Contract assets relating to technology BT R A T R AR TS & #0FE RS
solution services contracts ZENEE = 271
Total contract assets ABHEERE - 271

Contract liabilities relating to technology BRI R A T RARTE & #0E RS
solution services contracts ZathalE 5,168 3,378

Contract liabilities relating to software B ERIRGEE QBB S
customisation services contracts HAEE 768 360
Contract liabilities relating to trading business HE %% ABr AN EE = 7,959
Total contract liabilities EHBReE 5,936 11,697

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GAHE|EME
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WRRIEBEE @
(Continued)
() LIABILITIES RELATED TO CONTRACTS (H BEFEWNHERZAE
WITH CUSTOMERS
Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments AHNRABEIRZERUAHESRES
received from customers related to software customisation K~ BRRBRERMBRL RBH S
services contracts, trading business and technology solution MAEFBREZBNR - BRE S X
services. Contract liabilities decreased by RMB5,761,000 BatEgRd  aWRERLAR
due to a decrease in trading business contract activities. #5,761,0007T °
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINRFEAREE SN B R
recognised in the year related to carried forward contract RE RS
liabilities:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue recognised that was included in the s AFHIA N B BELEHHNTHE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning R
of the year
Contract liabilities relating to THEBEEB2EHNEE
- Trading business -H5%% 7,959 -
— Technology solution services contracts - BT BR T KRB E L 3,378 =
11,337 -

REaIRHER AR A7)
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REMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(g) UNSATISFIED CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS

The unsatisfied contract mainly represent the unsatisfied
performance obligation from fixed price customisation
service contracts:

The following table shows unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from from fixed price customisation
service contracts:

5

8= 324 2100 ))

(9 REITHEFEHW

RAEITHAKN T EIREEEBE R
BANPRBITNENEE

TRIREEBHRESNREANESE
MARBITEORME

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Aggregate amount of the transaction price MRIAEDEERHHE D
allocated to customisation service contracts ~ KEBITEHIRBELINZ S
that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at BB
31 March 2,651 2,546
Notes: ihEa

(i) Management expects that 100% of the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31 March
2022 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting
period. The amount disclosed above does not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

(ii) All customisation contracts are for periods of one year or less or
are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

6 HUrARHEMITS

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHB T FHET

Government subsidy (Note (i) BT i B (B 32 ()) 4,637 11,640

Rental concession related to COVID-19 2019 MmER 2 HERZE

(Note 2.1(a)) (F5E2.1(a) 511 2,340

Others Hh 3,368 2,368

Other income EH A 8,516 16,348

Loss on lease modification HEBHRZEER - (21)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary RIELE—EHRB ARz W

(Note 16(iv)) (P 5E16(0v)) 1,442 =

Other gain/(loss) Hibzs, (&18) 1,442 @1)

Other income and other gain E b Ug A N EAth Y ek 9,958 16,327

Note:

(i) The amount represents the subsidy granted by the Hong Kong (i)
Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund for the year ended 31

March 2021 and 2022.

FINANCE INCOME, NET

ZEEIEHZE2021F K2022F3A31A LF
EEERARBENEESCETITRTFZH
ﬂj] o

7 MBBASREHE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Finance cost from RENTEIE 2 BEKA
- bank borrowing - RITIEN (304) (692)
— other borrowing - EMER (74) (345)
- lease liabilities -HEaE (533) (837)
©11) (1,874)
Finance income from REUTEREZBERA
- bank deposits —RITHER 24 11
- financial assets at amortised cost -~ REEKAFTECEREE 750 2,034
— loan to a fellow subsidiary -M—ERREWBARREER 277 =
- loan to an associate -m—EBEATIREER 1,200 1,200
- loan to an intermediate holding company - [A—EREERARER 204 =
2,455 3,245
Finance income, net RE WA FER 1,544 1,371

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F

145



146

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBHRME
8 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8 MFEMA(GIR, &7
(Loss)/profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging: BrETS R AT (B518), @ I 0 & H0BR A N B 1]
BE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTER FAT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S A 57 B
- Audit services - B RS 2,700 2,500
— Non-audit services - EEET RS 422 20
Advertising and marketing expenses BEERIEEME 235 412
Cost of food and beverages B MERR AR 17,733 20,196
Cost of inventories sold from trading BHEBEETERAE
business 839,615 1,481,563
Delivery charges xEE 2,359 2,939
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERETE
equipment 14 888 2,275
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15(a) 12,337 18,912
Employee benefit expenses EERAIFEZ 9 24,227 29,804
Expenses relating to short-term leases H5T EATE E MR 2 P 15(b) 89 876
Foreign exchange differences, net MR Z5 - R - 1,264
Impairment losses on property, plant and  ¥1% - &= k& E 2 RE
equipment B8 14 36 714
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets 1 FE & & 2 B E 12 15b(i) 806 3,370
Information services cost = B RIEA A 15,733 =
Legal and professional fee FEERBES 1,957 2,174
Loss on write-off of property, plantand S % - BEMEH 2
equipment 18 = 2
Provision for impairment of financial assets 4 @& 2 7 B 50 1,216
Rates and management fee EZMNERE 3,275 5,894
Repair and maintenance ISR HEE 607 514
Subcontracting fee for other business HEmERS>BER = 1,098
Transportation cost EE AR 1,088 1,701
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRERME
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EREFAZ(BREET#HL)
(INCLUDING DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Basic salaries, bonus, allowances and other BEAFHS - T4 - B REMAEY
benefits in kind =Rl 23,185 28,520
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIRE AR - REHEKETE 1,042 1,284
24,227 29,804
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS TEBRESHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the AEEBREAESHFMA LT TBEEMER
Group does not include any directors (2021: nil) of the Company RIEEQ21F - ) HEMEZFBER
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 1025 2o tTAREE - £ BN R
10. The emoluments payable to the five (2021: five) individuals H#(20215F : AR) AT ZMEWT
during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries, bonus, allowances and other benefits ~ #r& ~ TE4T - BB R E M E )
in kind =Rl 2,684 2,811
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIREKA - REHKETE 89 90
2,773 2,901
The emoluments fell within the following bands: B AT AT EE -
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17 7T £500,0007 7T 1 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7C & 1,000,000/ 7T 4 4

REaIRHER AR A7)
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REMBRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EFEFIRFIZ

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (a) EEME
The remuneration of every director during the years is set FRN - BEZ2HFMWEIAT -
out below:
Employer’s
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries  and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees  Allowances in kind bonuses contributions Total
EXEHKEHN
e FeRl ZEREVER WA HE 153 @zt

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TERL TR TR TR

Year ended 31 March 2022 & Z2022F 34 31

ALEE
Executive directors HTEE
Ms. Li Jia EXET o = 120 = 10 7 137
Mr. Lu Shenghong EBOEE = 120 = 10 7 137
Mr. Wu Jiangtao RIBRE = 120 = 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan BEELE = 120 = 10 7 137
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin BEALE
(Note (iv) (Bt (v) 340 - - - - 340
Indlependent non-executive BV HEHTEE
directors
Mr. Cheung Miu RYPFE 360 = = = = 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick SR {AF 54 360 = = = = 360
Mr. Choi Tze Kit, Sammy ZFREE 360 - - - - 360
1,420 480 - 40 28 1,968
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRKE

10 EFREAE T @

(@) EBME@

Employer’s
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries and benefit  Discretionary scheme
Fees Allowances in kind bonuses  contributions Total
EFERET
e HeR RERENREN g SHEIf a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT TAR TET TET TAT
Year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F37
MNALEE
Executive directors HTEE
Ms. Li Jia EXET - 130 - - 7 137
Mr. Lu Shenghong BB = 130 = = 7 137
Mr. Wu Jiangtao RIBRE = 130 = = 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan WERLE = 127 = = 7 134
Non-executive director HFHTEE
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin BRHLE
(Note (iv) (=T () - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE
directors
Mr. Cheung Miu RPEE 360 - - - = 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick ~ SR1BMI%L £ 360 = = = = 360
Mr. Choi Tze Kit, Sammy BREE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Ko Po Ming (Note (i) RERRE
(PR32 i) 244 = = = = 244
1,324 517 - - 28 1,869
Notes: Miak
0] No directors waived any emolument during the years (2021: Nil). 0] FAMEEZRETAH S (20214 -

(if) No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a
director.

(iii) Resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company with effective from 4 December 2020.

(iv) Resigned as the non-executive director of the Company with
effective from 30 April 2021.

(i

(i)

(iv)

) o

BEAFBALRIETREMEDN
KU 2 B2 IR e A DI (E
BEEMEMIEBRZME -

BEARRIZBYIFERNTES ' B
2020512 4B EAERK o
BEAQRZIENITES - B202146F4
H 308 #BAERK °

ReaslRH=R AR A7
20224 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2021: Nil).

INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS, QUASI-
LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN FAVOUR
OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED BODIES
CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).
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10 EFRARAEW@®

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ESRARBRRALILER

HE2022F3A31HIEFE  #iEE
ERE M AEE R 2 AR M 2 U
B, 75 U B AT ] 3R R 48 ) 3k 4% 1 48 A
(20214F : ##) ©

RENESERBEOE=TREH
RE

REE202253A31BHILFE - AR
AMERERARAR ZEEZRGE M

ERI % =77 X EEAKE (20215 -
&) -

LEE  RZEESHNXESZ
ErEEERARBANE
M EERRHEMRZNER

RAFERIANFREIAERE - AR
CIEZ NG =PNCIC O EREEDE A F::3: )
VEAAEEREMZFEEZES 2
FELHEERARAANER £
EREEAMR 5 (20214F : )

BEENRZ - RERESWFH
EARF#H

BrRéra ISR M EES1 PTIREEE SN
ARBET L BAEEEBK AR -
MARBEERERHEREEAMzE (T
mEESEE)  ERAFERIAE
FEEMBHRDATENEFNERR
5~ RHERAH (20214 : &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11

The amount of tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

meEMBRERME
FriSRBASZ
RS 2EHREERIR/GIA) ZBRSH

i

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Current income tax expense BVERFTIS IR SZ
- Hong Kong profits tax - BBENER - -
~ Provision for current year - NEZREE - -
— Over-provision in prior year - BAEFEBERE - (19
- The PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) - B EAMER
([E%EFRBR) 539 4,488
Deferred income tax expense EEFTISIRFASE
- Hong Kong -&8 - 1,096
~ The PRC withholding tax - P TR 799 2,331
1,338 7,896

(@ Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25%
on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000 and
thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for the year (2021: same).

(b)  The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged
on assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the cities in the PRC in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
subject to reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to
15% for Small Low-profit Enterprises.

FR - BAEFERTIBLIER 2,000,000
BT Z AT ERREFIRRERE
8.25% UK - MEERIZE EHE16.5%
Bk (20214 : HE) °

FEAEMAEHEFRARAEERS
BEBAMESBERMRITHEMER
s M 2 TR o @R BB
NAEZHER25% @ HEARKEE TH
BRTEBENERA DR A RN F
5%ZE15% . BRIEBELEMEHRHE
B

REAIRHERBR QA
2022F F 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(c) According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding tax. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group recognised deferred tax liabilities amounting to
HK$3,896,000 (2021: HK$3,094,000) of the withholding tax
on undistributed profits of the PRC associate.

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the respective

tax rates as follows:

11 PSRBT W@

()

RIBFRBRETHEANBERT - R
B X 37 B9 A B A 3R AN B R R
200841 A1 8 & WAV F) B FT E
ERRE - BERBI0%MTENE -
R2022%43A831H » AEB R FH
ERRZRKD KR T 2 BT ERIE
MEFHTE B 153,896,000/ 7T (20214
3,094,000/ 7T) °

FhAN G2 BRR 75 BT (B 4R) 0 A B A Y
BEERAEEREAEENERS
BATR - TR

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BR& AT (B518), & A (6,115) 33,403
Calculated at respective tax rates LB R (2,062) 4,200
Income not subject to taxation BEST AU A (633) (2,400)
Over-provision in prior year BT FE RS 4) (37)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AR B 2
purposes 515 460
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax I £ 32K {7 18 4 B A AR 2
assets has been recognised FfiEEE 3,726 3,685
Temporary difference of property, plantand W EERIEIERIBE E 29
equipment for which no deferred tax asset % - e LR R E RS =58
has been recognised (100) (510)
Temporary difference of right-of-use assets I EERIRIE R IE & & 2 {F
for which no deferred tax asset has been HEENERERE
recognised (903) (923)
Temporary difference of undistributed profits #7274 BB &2 8] 2 K 2K
of the PRC associate recognised FIHE Iy = 58 799 2,331
Derecognition of deferred income tax assets ~ FhiBF S ERHWE - BE K&
in respect of temporary difference of RENEREER I ERIE
property, plant and equipment recognised RS ERE
previously - 1,096
Income tax expense FRSIA 1,338 7,896
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

12 DIVIDENDS 12 &2

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for BEESTEZMEE202283A318 EFE

13

the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: same).

IRHEAIAR B (20214 : 48R °

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13 Sk (&58) &7
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share AARBRREGEREAREE(BER), &
attributable to shareholders of the Company is based on the FITHRA T BURETE -

following data.

(a)

(b)

BASIC (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (a) BEREX(ER),EF

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BREAR(ER), BAIRARBRE
(loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by (R (B18), B H B AFRBEBITYE
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue Rz METHEEE -

during the year.

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of AN BB R 15 (B518) /3% A
the Company (HK$’000) (F%T) (6,029) 25,550
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 317 & i I H1#E F 15 &1
in issue (thousands) (Fh%) 858,918 858,918
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK cents BREXR(ER), BF
per share) (FR&ABNL) (0.70) 2.96
DILUTED (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (b) EREE(ER),EA

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting Tl (B18)  BRRBRRERR
the weighted average number of shares outstanding to BEEHETRRARBARZITEIN
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. A&7 2 INFEFH BT E -

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had no HE2022F3A31HIEFE - AR A
dilutive potential ordinary shares, thus the diluted (loss)/ WTHERETESLTBR BAEEINNE
earnings per share presented is the same as the basic (loss)/ s (EE), /BN ESRER(E
earnings per share (2021: same). 1),/ BAER (20214 : HA) -

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% - BER®E

Restaurants Furniture
Leasehold and kitchen ~ Computer and Office Motor
improvements  equipment  equipment fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
EEREE
REZEE #fE  BHRE GAREE BAERB "E -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL THER TR TiEx TiEx TR TEL
At 31 March 2020 1202053A31A
Cost [ 17,168 12,220 3,431 10,593 618 1,044 45,074
Accumulated depreciation and LHTERAE
impairment (14,419) (10,675) (2,578) (9,134) (654) (675) (38,085)
Net carrying amount FHFE 2,749 1,545 853 1,459 64 369 7,039
Year ended 31 March 2021 HZ2021F3A31A
LFE
Opening net carrying amount FOREFE 2,749 1,545 853 1,459 64 369 7,039
Additions "E - 3 - 24 - = 27
Write-off (Note) i35 () - ) = = = = 2
Depreciation il (891) (539) (244) (460) (62) (79) (2,275)
Disposal of a subsidiary &ML (1,222) (416) (564) (604) ?) (290) (3,098)
Provision for impairment (Note 15(o)l) 5/ /8 (B £ 15 (o)) (211) (323) (16) (164) = = (714)
Closing net carrying amount EXRAFE 425 268 29 255 = = 977
At 31 March 2021 12021535 31H
Cost D 10,014 6,618 816 6,217 - - 23,665
Accumulated depreciation and ZHAMERAE
impairment (9,589) (6,350) (787) (5,962) - - (22,688)
Net carying amount BEFE 425 268 29 265 - - 977
Year ended 31 March 2022 H2202F3A31A
LEE
Opening net carrying amount FOREFE 425 268 29 255 977
Additions AE
Depreciation & (394) (232) @7 (235) (888)
Provision for impairment RERE (16) (13) = 1) (36)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 15 2 2 13 53
At 31 March 2022 1#202253A31A
Cost AR 7,834 5,326 599 4,936 18,695
Accumulated depreciation and LHFTERAE
impairment (7,819) (5,303) (597) (4,929) (18,642)
Net carrying amount REFE 15 2 2 13 53
Note: MIaE -

Property, plant and equipment in respect of shop closure of approximately
have been fully depreciated amounted to HK$4,970,000 (2021:

HK$12,674,000).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

15 FHERERHERAR

(@) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

(a) REEMBRRRER 2EHE

FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

following amounts relating to the leases:

BANBRREEREHEE 28
m -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
At 1 April R4A1H 13,251 31,674
Additions NE = 3,113
Lease modification (Note (i)) HE BB 9,889 746
Depreciation e (12,337) (18,912)
Provision for impairment (note 15(b)(ii)) SELE B 1 (B 51 5(0)(i)) (806) (3,370)
At 31 March MA3A31H 9,997 13,251
Lease liabilities HEaRE
At 1 April R4A18 22,365 45,802
Additions NE = 3,113
Lease modification HEBK 9,889 767
Payments (=N (18,424) (28,154)
Interest expenses FERHE 533 837
At 31 March MW3A31H 14,363 22,365
Of which are: Hh g
Current lease liabilities nOHEaE 9,875 16,886
Non-current lease liabilities FRBAERE 4,488 5,479
14,363 22,365

Note:

(i) The amount represents the renewal of contract periods for the
registered office and two stores from restaurant business.

B et

0 ZEREEEEIMREREERER
MR A LHR -

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income

15 FHESERBE&RW®

(b) REEE2ERERERZEHE

FermbsRBEREREEZSHE

shows the following amounts relating to the leases: LN
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 12,337 18,912
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets {5 P4 8 L B s 48 (B &k i)

(Note (i) 806 3,370
Interest expenses FERE 533 837
Expenses relating to short-term leases FREPHEECHAX 89 876
Rental concession related to COVID-19 2019 MAm B 2 HE RE

(Note (i) (fE() 511 2,340
Loss on lease modification HEEm A - (21)

Notes:

The amount represents the rental concession granted by the
landlord to the Group in relation to COVID-19.

Managements monitors and reviews the business performance
at the operating segment level. For the year ended 31 March
2022, in view of the continuous decrease in restaurant
business’s revenue as well as the continuous adverse impact
to the restaurant business arise from the COVID-19 epidemic
related prevention measures, management considered that
there are indicators imply the assets may be impaired, triggering
a need to perform impairment assessment on the restaurant
business.

The management determined that each individual restaurant is a
cash generating unit and carried out an impairment assessment
for the assets of individual restaurants, including property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. Recoverable amount
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
determined by the higher of fair value less cost of disposal or
value in use (“VIU”) calculation using cash flow projections based
on the financial budgets covers the remaining lease period for
the individual restaurants.
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ZEMIEEEHM2019BRFSHEET
REFHHERIRE

EREELESBEOERRRE
BRI - HE202263A31ALLESE -
EREEEBREOFETR AR
2019 MW SR Z B BRI TEDS 15 1t
HEBEBKELNBETEE &
BERABNRKAEE LR
B BEHEEERETRETGN

ZE-

EHEETSRENERORASE
EEM WHENERZEEETR
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ERREE - WE BERRBEAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(Continued)

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable amount
determined by the VIU calculation, impairment losses of
HK$36,000 (Note 14) (2021: HK$714,000) and HK$806,000
(2021: HK$3,370,000) has been recognised on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.

If the revenue growth rate applied to the cash flow projections of
the CGUs had been further decreased by 3% over management
estimates, the Group would have had to further recognise
an additional impairment always against carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
HK$615,000 (FY2021: HK$790,000).

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculation for the
recoverable amount were as follows:

mEMBRRKE

15 FHERERHEREARw@

(b) REEE2ERERERZEHE

()

BT ¢

(i

HRBERE  REFEBFTEET
WA EISRE HWE - BERLE
AR A E D R #EFR 36,000/ 7T
(M5E14) (20214 : 714,000 7T) &
806,000/ 7T (20214F : 3,370,000/%8 7T)
ONEREN SE= 10

WERANREELEMBRESRENN
W RRREREGHTE—FS TR
3% @ AEBERKREME - BE &K
EUAREAREENRAGEE —SE
R EEHNFE615,0008 TT (202181 4F -
790,000/ 7T) °

RARFEARESENERABENE
REEAT

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Compound annual growth rate BEFHERE -13% to 13% 3% to 13%
-13%Z13% 3%%E13%
Pre-tax discount rate FARTALIR X 13.0% 12.0%

16 ASSOCIATES 16 BELNT
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Share of net asset value held by Group REBSBE CEEFENS 61,627 58,666
Notional goodwill and intangible assets LEEENEBREE 29,793 31,385
Investments in associates REEZE RN RINIRE 91,420 90,051
Loan to an associate (Note (ii)) ) — [ & A AR AR B Sk (BT (i) 15,000 15,000

ReaslRH=R AR A7
20224 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

16 ASSOCIATES (Continued)

16 BEBLAT @)

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Movements in the investments in associates are K B4 A MR E ST ¢

as follows:

At the beginning of the year RE] 90,051 71,096
Additions (Note (iv)) ANE (MEEGv) 1,440 =
Share of post-tax profit of associates DIHEE AT Z BRI HEF 8,940 17,476
Dividend declared net of tax (Note (iii)) BB IR BRTE) (i) (8,878) -
Share of OCI Db B 2 AU e (133) 1,479
At the end of the year RER 91,420 90,051

Set out below are the associate of the Group as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 which, in the opinion of the directors, is material
to the Group. The associate as listed below have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the
Group; the countries of incorporation or registration are also their

principal place of business.

AT &5 R2022F 20213 A1 HE =R
ABHAEEMEBEANAEFHRE QA -
NI N R MR ANME B IR LB - A
REBEERH A ERERR
MAEEETEEEME, -

Nature of investments in associates at the reporting date: RMEBE  REEQAFMBEENEZ N
™
Place of Particulars Interest held Interest held
incorporation/ of issued directly at directly at
Name operation share capital 31 March 2022 31 March 2021  Principal activity
T 20226 3A318 #2021F3A31R
28 Fd- i ERITRAFEE BEEHENER HESENER ITERID
IR REEEETHBERAR The PRC RMB50,000,000 50% 50%  Providing e-commerce
(Beijing Minshang ZhiHui E-commerce related service in the
Co., Limited*) (“Minshang Zhihui") PRC
(Note (i)
TARBERETERERARA e N RPERAEFEEE
(REEE]) () 50,000,0007T MR
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited BVI USD10,000 46.67% 100%  Investment holding
(“MSCT Investment”) (Note (ii))
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited BERLES 10,0005 7T REER
(TMSCT Investment]) (ff 7(ii)
* English name is translated for identification purpose only. o B LB EMEER -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16 ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

0)

(i

(i)

Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system and
supply chain management capability to provide various banks, financial
institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce.

The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is entitled
to appoint two out of four directors in Minshang Zhihui. Voting decisions
of the board are made by a simple majority. The Group is not able to
exercise more than half of the voting power and it cannot control any
board decisions. Therefore, Minshang Zhihui is not a subsidiary of the
Group. However, since the Group demonstrates its significant influence
over Minshang Zhihui, the investment in Minshang Zhihui is recognised
as an investment in associate.

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000 to Minshang
Zhihui on 16 May 2019 with an maturity date of 15 May 2021. The
loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per annum, with
contractual settlement of the loan’s interest annually. On 14 May 2021,
the Group entered into a supplemental agreement with Minshang Zhihui
to extend the loan maturity date to 15 May 2023. For the year ended
31 March 2022, such loan has incurred interest income to the Group
amounted to HK$1,200,000.

Minshang Zhihui has declared dividend amounting to RMB16,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$19,729,000) to its shareholders on
25 June 2021. The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang
Zhihui and is entitled to RMB7,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$8,878,000) of dividend, which is net of withholding tax. As at 30
June 2022, the dividend has not been received.

MSCT Investment was incorporated as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group on 3 October 2018. On 12 July 2021, MSCT Investment
allotted 4,666 shares at USD$1 (equivalent to approximately HK$8) per
each share to the Group.

On 21 May 2021, the Group entered into the capital increase
agreement (“Capital Increase Agreement”) with MSCT Investment
and an independent third party (“Subscriber”), pursuant to which
the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for 5,333 new shares of MSCT
Investment for a consideration HK1,600,000, which represents 53.33%
of the enlarged equity interest of MSCT Investment. The subscription,
satisfied by cash, was completed on 16 August 2021.

Upon completion of the subscription, the Group no longer has control
over the board of MSCT Investment. Thus, MSCT Investment ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Group and became an associate of the Group.

A gain on deemed disposal of MSCT Investment amounted to
approximately HK$1,442,000, was recognised as “other income and
other gains” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

mEMBRRKE

16 BEBLAT @)

BieE -

)

(i

(i)

RAEEIZUEMERETHERRE
i‘%‘ FEIERNEKBESSTHASMRERE

BENAZRIBIT SREBRABMER
ﬁf?_?pﬁgo
AEBBEREEES0%KE - WHEERD

HARAEEEFTZIMEBEST EFR L
BRERTEAGERFBIET - REBETREST
FEHEE—F 2 RERE TR ENES
E./?%;E Hit - REEEWIEAEE 2B
T KW BRAEEHREEERTE

FEN ERRBEEZRERRBRR
é‘?%"TZ&é

AEFEPR2019F5 A 16HAEBERKRHE
%15,000,000;‘%7% » f@m A 8 A2021F5815

BRABERT  BFEFER8%TE -
E&? HERERFE - 7‘5A2021¢5H14EI
AEBRRAEEIT LHAHE - FE
B HAIE R = 202345 A 15H - %jzizozzis
AB1BLLEEE ZERAAEEELF B
1,200,000/ 7T °

REEHEEN2021F6 A25BMEBRERETIRA
R #16,000,0007T (18 & 1 4919,729,000/4 7T)
FRE - AEERAEREEBS0%RE - =
BNBRIENFZDHIREAR7,200,0007T (H8
E R #98,878,000/%8 7T) ° 12022464308 -
BRI SSA

MSCT Investment? 2018410 A 38 st Ak 32
AREEZEMB AR - R2021F7A128 -
MSCT InvestmentiA F %1€ (B E R 4987
TC) B (B 1 7R 5 B A 34,6661 AR 17

H2021F5A21H ' AEBMEMSCT
Investmentk — BB E =77 ([RBALET L
BEHZ(BEBRR]) Bt RBARE

LA {E 1,600,000 LR EEMSCT Investment
5,333M T AL (IEMSCT Investment4& & A A%

HH53.33%) - AERBURES I MILER
202148816 B =K °

RZBRETKE  RNEBETHEMSCT
Investment® =& %G = HI# - Bt - MSCT
Investment ™ B AR S B B A B MK AAE
E=) /NI

BIEHEMSCT InvestmentZ W25 4
1,442,000 8 TREGE A KRR AER R
[H A REMY ] o

RAgRHERARA
2022$$$&
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mEMBEBRRME
16 ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16 BiELT @
(@) SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (@) —EEHEQATRZBERBEER
FOR AN ASSOCIATE
The table below provides summarised financial information TERREEERAYAEENEEE
for Minshang Zhihui that, in the opinion of directors, is AZEBEEZHEMBER - A
material to the Group and is accounted for using the equity AEZEANR -
method.
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current E
Total current assets mENVEERE 458,209 469,088
Total current liabilities mE)BEEE (381,728) (393,389)
Non-current FEFRED
Total non-current assets EMENEELRE 44,449 42,190
Total non-current liabilities EMBBEERE (606) (558)
Net assets BERE 120,374 117,331
Opening net assets FHEETE 117,331 78,038
Profit for the year F A% A 21,221 36,335
Dividends declared 2= IR E (19,730) =
Currency translation difference GNEE IR = R 1,632 2,958
Closing net assets FREETFE 120,454 117,331
Direct equity interest held FrisE o EE R 50% 50%
Share of net asset value held by Group AEBSBECEEFENS 60,227 58,666
Intangible assets and notional goodwill BmREEERBENE 29,793 31,385
Carrying amount BREE 90,020 90,051
Revenue gz 593,597 447 240
Profit for the period B AR 21,221 36,335
Other comprehensive income Hiaprmks 1,632 2,958
Total comprehensive income FHEKEETE 22,853 39,293
The information above reflects the amounts presented in N EERRERES B2 Re %R
the consolidated financial statements of Minshang Zhihui %Fﬁi@JZ%%ﬁ(I#EFﬁEUﬂ? sl
(and not Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited’s TE%?@%%EZ*B 3) - HE sk
share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in $%§513§ GERNR BT ER
accounting policies between the Group and the associate. ELFHEE o

1 60 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRERME
INVENTORIES 17 &8
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTERT FAT
Food and consumables for restaurant BELEEBHRDEEER
operations 111 118
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ERAERI MG AGZEEAKREERANIR M
‘cost of food and beverages’ and ‘cost of inventories sold for MREUARIRE HEBEDEFERARID
trading business’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive GFEKRASED R4 A17,733,0008 7T &
income, amounting to approximately HK$17,733,000 and 839,615,000/ 7T (20214F : 20,196,0007% 7T
HK$839,615,000, respectively (2021: HK$20,196,000 and 1,481,563,000/% 7T) °
HK$1,481,563,000).
TRADE RECEIVABLES 18 HHEWRIEA
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Trade receivables B 5 REYIR 1,572 327,494
Less: loss allowance W SRR (1,233) (1,129)
339 326,365

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from restaurant
operations and trading business. The credit period granted to
trade customers was within 1-45 days. The aging analysis of the

18 B HEWFIA @)

BoRIGATEERNEREERES R
BRBHIE -BTEZEPHEER/IE
45K - BHEWFIRERER B HNK

trade receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

BT

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Less than 30 days LR30K 273 207,553
31 to 60 days 31E60K = 4,353
61 to 90 days 61290K 66 2,387
Over 90 days B EBI0K 1,233 113,201
1,572 327,494

The table below reconciled the loss allowance of trade

TREESHRUGRAZBERBEETHR

receivables:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
At the beginning of the year REH] 1,129 =
Provision for impairment of trade receivables E 5 WA 2 RERE 104 1,129
At the end of the year RER 1,233 1,129

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their
fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 with majority of the
Group’s trade receivables were denominated in RMB.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables could refer
to Note 3.1(c).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was
the fair value of the receivables mentioned above.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

R2022% 202163 A318 - B e A
REEEE AR EEES  ~EEAHXHE
SREWGRIER AREEHE -

EFHREZRKFIEREZENFLBWE
3.1(c) °

RS B HIFTE R & AR = & R T L e
WHRIBZ AR EIE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

mEMBRRKE

19 AMARIR - HeRAMERRR

RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Prepayments (Note (i) FEA 5B () 7,307 21,872
Rental and utilities deposits HE kA ARAEEZS 9,156 11,590
Other tax recoverable (Note (ii)) LAt AT iz [l 756 78 (B = (i) 16,291 17,783
Other receivables (Note (iii)) L b [ WK T (PR B Gi)) 5,183 4,897
Dividend receivable (Note 16(iii) N AR 2. (B 5 16 iii)) 8,878 =
VAT tax receivable RS E R 797 =
47,612 56,142
Less: non-current portion S SERNEREE S
— Rental and utilities deposits -HER NAEEES (2,730) (7,154)
Current portion BNHEAES 5 44,882 48,988
Notes: FIEE -

As at 31 March 2022, the prepayment balance included RMB5,000,000
(equivalent to HK$6,200,000) prepayments made to a supplier for
the trading business of the Group. On 23 June 2022, the Group has
received the settlement amounted to RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,200,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the other tax recoverable of RMB13,209,000
(equivalent to HK$16,291,000) (2021: RMB15,015,000 (equivalent to
HK$17,783,000)) represented the value added tax refund receivables
from export sales of the trading business. Subsequent to the year end
and up to the date of this report, the Group has received the tax refund
amounted to RMB5,731,000 (equivalent to HK$7,068,000).

As at 31 March 2022, other receivables mainly represented a rebate
receivable amounted to HK$2,707,000 (2021: HK$2,769,000), net of
loss allowance, from a supplier of trading business in the PRC. On 29
June 2022, the Group has received the settlement amounted in full.

As at 31 March 2022, the other receivable balance also included
interest receivable from the associate’s loan, amounted HK$1,057,000
(2021: HK$1,057,000). On 29 June 2022, the Group has received the
settlement amounted to HK$1,057,000.

M2022F3A31R F BNRBAEHBERAE
SEESEB —SHERELOEMREA
R #5,000,0007T (8% 6,200,000 7T) ° 7
2022F6 230 - ALBEEWBAEREAR
#5,000,0007T (18 & #26,200,0007 7T) °

20226 3A31H + Al EIFHIEA R
13,209,000t (#8E 716,291,000/ 7T) (2021
F: AR¥15,015,0007T (18 E 717,783,000
BIL))IEEBSER L OHENEBULERR
R FRERAZAREAH  AEEC K
R ARYES,731,0007T (8 & 727,068,000
HBIT) ©

MR2022F3A31H  EMERZKEBEEEE
KA E SR EE O E R R IER A
2,707,000 7T (B BB E ) (2021 4F -
2,769,000/ 7T) » 720226 H29H * A%EH
BRI 2EAEE A -

202263 A31H - HMEWKKIBLELR TS
FEREWE:E AR ERAF E1,057,000/ T
(20214F : 1,057,000/ 7T) ° 18202246 429
A AEEDKREIEERIE1,057,0008 7T °

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F

163



164

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19 FAFRE - ReRHEMEKRRIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (#8)
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other 2022 20213 A31H » BNFE « &
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2022 S REMBERFENERERL AR EERA
and 2021 and are denominated in the following currencies: BN AT E®EEHE -
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FET
HKS BT 10,681 12,680
RMB AR 36,931 43,462
47,612 56,142
20 LOAN TO INTERMEDIATE HOLDING 20 MR AFIIREER
COMPANY
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Current BNERER o
Loan to a intermediate holding company Eleelinbedi @NETE =23 F /4 10,204 =

As at 31 March 2022, the balance represented an unsecured
loan to RUNMING International Limited (F# B AR A 7)), an
intermediate holding company of the Company. The loan bears
interest at 8% per annum and has no fixed repayment term but

shall not full beyond 7 October 2024.

21 FINANCIAL ASSET AT AMORTISED COST

As at 31 March 2021, the balance represented two unsecured
corporate bonds from China Tonghai International Financial
Limited. with principal amount of HK$13,000,000 and
HK$12,000,000, respectively, interest rate of 8.25% per annum.
The bonds have been fully repaid to the Group during the year

ended 31 March 2022 upon maturity.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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MR202293H318  BRIEMA A A HEE
RARHEHHBEERARENERAR
e ZEFIRFFES%TE  EETER
HAPR - HETNBIBR20245E10878 -

RN AECEMEE

MR2021%F3A31H » &erisk A+ R B EE
REMARARNMPDERLIFQAGTES - K
4585 Bl A13,000,0005 7T & 12,000,0005%
TC REFEE25%:E - ZEBHNEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries with major operations as
at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are shown as follows:

mEMBRRKE

22 ELT

R2022F 2021638318 © T EMEB QA
ZHEERTEERIT ¢

Place of incorporation and Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital  Effective interest held  place of operation
RUTEEREN
£ SRR EEERER S BRA BERER TEEHRBENE
2022 2021
2022F 20216
Directly held subsidiaries:
EREENRELR
Prosperity One Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
company
EREAHS  AREALA 100%7T REER
MSCT Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management
service in Hong Kong
REANERBRAR BE BREADA iy EEBRUERRY
MSCT Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
company
RERAEE  AREARH E REEKR
MSC-Tech Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands, limited liability US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
EREAHS  AREALA 1ET RERR
MSC-Tech Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
company
RERAES  AREARA 1ET REER
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
MESENNELR
333 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
333BR AR BE BREADA 10087T RABR
Goody Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
ERERAR Bh BREALA 100/ 7T BEHE
111 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of catering
management service in
Hong Kong
MBRAR BF BREALA 1,000 7T EEEREERERRY

REAIRHERBR QA
2022F F 3
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REMBRRME

22 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

&R

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

AR AR L i B A R R R AR

22 BB LT u#)

Registered

capital  Effective interest held
RUTEEREN

ERUES ERES
2022 2021
2022 20215

Principal activities and
place of operation

IEEDREEHE

Indirectly held subsidiaries: (Continued)

BEEENHELT : (B

Unlimit Limited

ERARAT

Dotco Limited

ZHBRAT

Hotex Limited

CRERAA

Sydney Limited

Tri-pros Limited

ZHAERRA

555 Limited

5558 R AH]

MSEC Investment (HK) Limited

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE  BRAERT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

& BRAERH

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE  BREERF

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE  BRAERT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

&g BRALRH

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE  BREERT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

&8 BRAERT

Hong Kong, limited liability company
A EREAAT

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

HK$10,000 100% 100%
10,000/
HK$10,000 100% 100%
10,000/ T
HK$100 100% 100%
100/ 7T
HK$10,000 100% 100%
10,000
HK$10,000 100% 100%
10,000/
HK$300,000 100% 100%
300,000% T
HK$100 100% 100%
100/87T

HK$1,000 100% 100%
1,000 7T

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EBEBREER

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EBEBGEEE

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EBBREER

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EBBLEEE

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EBBREER

Investment holding
RERK



Name

&R

22 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

AR AR B A R R AR R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRKE

22 BB LT u#)

Registered
capital

Principal activities and
Effective interest held  place of operation
RUTEEREN
BRER
2022

2022

BT IREBRAEHE
2021

20215

Indirectly held subsidiaries: (Continued)

BEEENHELT : (B

REAMERETARERAT

RAAMERDAEERAT

+

k>
+|_|
Bl

CETRNEEARAT

AERAARETRRRINER

R

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

PE(RETEARCAREER
&)

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

PE(RETEAECAREER
)

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

PE(RETEERCBEREED
7))

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

PE(REPEARCAREAR
7))

Registered capital 100% 100%
RMB10,000,000,
fully paid
AMERARK
10,000,0007T *
THBR

Trading business in PRC

PEEHES

Registered capital 70% 70%
RMB2,000,000,
fully paid
EMERARK
2,000,0007T
THaR

Trading business in PRC

GEECEY

Registered capital 100% 100%
RMB20,000,000,
fully paid
AMERARK
20,000,0007T
THaR

Trading business in PRC

PEESEH

Registered capital 100% 100%  Service business in PRC
RMB50,000,000,

fully paid
AMERARK
50,000,000

ot 164
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REAIRHERBR QA
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REMBRRME

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23 Bakie®FRY

2022 2021
20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHB T FHET

Cash on hand FEEE 208 237
Cash at banks R{TIRE 23,582 32,050
Total 4act 23,790 32,287

At 31 March 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk of
the Group is cash at banks, amounting to approximately

HK$23,582,000 (2021: HK$32,050,000).

R2022%43A31H ' AEBEGNRSE
ERE% A4S 523,582,000/ 7T (20214 -
32,050,000/ 7T) KR TIR & ©

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in: TS ESTENRe KRE
ZEY
HK$ BT 17,626 17,260
RVB AR¥E 6,164 15,027
23,790 32,287

As at 31 March 2022, cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$6,164,000 (2021: HK$15,027,000) of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and deposited with banks in the PRC.
The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with

no recent history of default.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

MR2022%3A31H ' AEBEMRERBEE
BY496,164,000/% 7T (20214 : 15,027,000
BIL)DAARBHELFERR TR ZIR
17 R AR EZ S AINEBBTHEH
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$EVERTT -
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e KRR MR
24 TRADE PAYABLES 24 BHEMARIEA
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting RFEHRNE S ENFIBEBENREZ BN
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: FRECHITINT -
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
0—-30 days 0ZE 30K 577 322,707

The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms

EHRNRERTHE  ANFHE—RE

of 30 days in general. 30K °
The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their BoRMNFEZRAEREAABEES -
fair values and are denominated in the following currencies: WIRIA T EEEHE -
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
HKS BT 577 786
RVB AR = 321,921
577 322,707

REBIRHZR AR AR

20224 F
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mEMBEBRRME
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HthEMREREERH
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHEIT
Accrued employee benefit expenses FEEHEEREH M 1,459 1,808
Accrued audit fees JEEtEAER 3,030 2,663
Accrued acquisition professional fee ERTBEEEER 250 =
Accrued professional fees EETEEER 449 787
Accrued utilities Bt AREXEER 141 230
Provision for long service payment RHEBRG B HE 845 283
Provision for unutilised annual leave REAFREME 228 299
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (a)) ERE RS @) 1,553 2,010
Amount due to a former executive director B —BBIITE EZIA (o)

(Note (b)) 5,752 10,000
Amount due to immediate holding company FEAS B AR B 38 (B 5T (o)

(Note (c)) 5 5
Government subsidy refund payable FEST BT # Bh iR 3R = 773
Other tax payable H eI RIE 6 1,684
Others Hitb 638 772

14,356 21,314
Less: non-current portion R SERVARES

- Provision for reinstatement costs - BRERBE (573) (1,225)

Current portion BIHAES 5 13,783 20,089

1 70 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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mEMBRRKE

25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HtEFAREREHERA@
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the other payables and accruals balance HEmEMNSRBERETEAGHOEEDERL
approximate to their fair values and are denominated in the NABEESE  WEATEEE :
following currencies:

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HKS BT 14,003 19,077
RVB AR 353 2,237
14,356 21,314
Notes: MIaE -
(@  Provision for reinstatement costs @ ERERRE
Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as AEBNERERBHENEHNT -
follows:
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
At the beginning of the year RE] 2,010 3,145
Provision during the year FREHE = 57
Actual costs paid ENEREAR (457) (1,192)
At the end of the year RER 1,553 2,010
()  Amount due to a former executive director ) E—RAEIBMITESHIEAE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BRAFEAEER R RARERER -
(©)  Amount due to immediate holding company () FER EEERARIFIA
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. FAFEBEREER 2 RARERER -

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F
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mEMBEBRRME
26 BORROWINGS 26 &%
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TFHET
Bank borrowing (Note (a)) IRITER (@) - 11,819
Other borrowing (Note (b)) E R (M5t o) 111 =
111 11,819

The carrying amount of the bank borrowing and other borrowing RITERREMERZEEENUARER

were denominated in RMB. & o

Notes: s -

(@  On 28 August 2020, EFEAIFHER)EFREABKER A G, a fellow (@  M2020%E8A28H F AEBREMBATR
subsidiary of the Group has entered into a loan arrangement amounted AER(ERETFHEERAAEEPRE
to RMB9,980,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,819,000) with FEBRBERRBITROBRAFILER
the Shanghai Pudong Development Bank in the PRC, with an interest ZHE - 28 A ARK9,080,000T (FHE KLY
rate of 5.66% per annum, maturing on 28 August 2021. Such loan was 11,819,000/ 7T) + RFF|E5.66%:T 8 * R
guaranteed by Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited, 202158 A28HE M ° ZEBRIVAAR A&
the ultimate holding company of the Company, and was fully repaid on BIERARREEFZERCORY) BRARE
28 August 2021. R WER20215F8H28 A BHIEE -

() On 11 June 2019, REAIRHER)EFHBK AR AT, a fellow () H2019F6A118  AEERRXHMBARRRD

subsidiary of the Group, has a loan facility from it R EREAREREE
fRA7A], a related party of the Group, amounted to RMB11,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,226,000) with a maturity on 10
June 2022. Such loan is repayable on demand, bears interest at 7.5%
per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has drawn down
RMB9,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,392,000) out of this
facility.

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding balance for such loan was
RMB90,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$111,000).

On 3 April 2022, such loan was fully repaid by the Group.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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BIRH(ER) ETHEBE AR A A ALk B R
FUARRENEREERARNNBERRRE
AR #11,200,0007T (18 & 74 4912,226,0005%
J0) * BIHAR B202246 8108 - 22 ERA
REREE  REFETS5%TE o

BE2022F3A31HILFE  AEEE A%
S & IRMARKR9,300,0007T (FHE R
11,392,000/ 7T) °

MN2022E3 8318 » ZEERNBTEHBA
R #90,0007T (A& R £111,0008 7T) °

M2022F4A30 - ZEERCREAREBEE
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e KRR MR
27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 27 REFRSIR
2022 2021
20221 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Deferred income tax assets REFTSTHEE - -
Deferred income tax liabilities EEEHAE (3,893) (3,094)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during FABREMSHEELBENEHNOT :
the year is as follows:
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS BELEFREHRERE
Temporary
Undistributed difference
profits of arising from
the PRC property, plant
associate and equipment Total
ME- BER
FEBE AT Z REEEZ
KRB & F = st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1H - 1,096 1,096
Credited to the consolidated FTAGRE ZEMER
statement of comprehensive
income - (1,096) (1,096)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and 720213 H31H -
31 March 2022 2021F4A1H &

202243 H31H - - -

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F 173
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fRE B AR M
27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 27 RIEFRBRm@)
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES EEFREBEE
Temporary

Undistributed difference

profits of arising from
the PRC property, plant
associate and equipment Total
nE - BER
FEBHENT . REEEZTR
R EEF =5 st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 R 763 283 1,046

Charged to the consolidated HEHFEEZERERE
statement of comprehensive
income 2,331 - 2,331

Derecognition of deferred tax liabilities & — M B2 Al 4% 1k

due to disposal of a subsidiary WRIEERIEAE - (283) (283)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 7202143 31 H &20214F
4H1H 3,094 - 3,094

Charged to the consolidated MEHREE2mKER

statement of comprehensive

income 799 - 799
At 31 March 2022 20223 H31H 3,893 = 3,893
Note: MiaE -

M2020F10A98 + AEBEHEENHEGRAR]
(HERMEAE2EMBATIAR) Z100%MHE - B

On 9 October 2020, the Group has disposed of its 100% equity interest in
Aero Tech Limited, which was accounted for as its wholly owned subsidiary

before disposal. The deferred income tax liabilities from temporary difference
arising from property, plant and equipment for Aero Tech Limited was therefore
derecognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$118,936,000 (2021: HK$94,871,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income. These tax losses have not been recognised due to
uncertainty of future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry date.
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& B 95 5 B B
28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28 AR
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations TRETEMBATRRBEL - BT
resulting from technology solution services contracts, software RFEARESEHNEELHARBITRENR
customisation services contracts and trading contracts. ffo
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Contract liabilities relating to trading business ~ EE SEEHB AN AE - 7,959
Contract liabilities relating to technology solution H2 5 fiifi# sk 5 = RIE A #IHEFE <
services contracts EH8E 5,168 3,378
Contract liabilities relating to software B ERIRFS S QBB A
customisation services contracts =R 768 360
Total contract liabilities ABRBEERRE 5,936 11,697
Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments received EHNBEFERIRPEZESHER - &ir
from customers related to trading business, technology solution BRAFRIRBELRBETHRBEHRE
services contracts and software customisation services contracts P Yz TaRER -
in the PRC.
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 &
Number of Nominal
shares value
RHOEE HE
HK$’'000
FHEIT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each TRRME(E0.0025/ LAY & i %
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and HR2020F4 818 ~ 202143 B 31
31 March 2022 H X20224F3A31H 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each HRXEE0.00257 7T HY & A%
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2021 and R2021F4 818 ~ 202143 A31
31 March 2022 H X2022%3A31H 858,918,182 2,147

BN ERERAR
2022555 119
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REMBRRME

30 OTHER RESERVE

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on the
PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of
this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not be required to make any
further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon
approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no retained earnings had
been transferred to the statutory reserve (2021: RMB1,723,000).
As at 31 March 2022, retained earnings comprise statutory
reserve fund of RMB279,000 (2021: RMB6,308,000).

30 H fih 3 O

RBEANIINABECE 2 BRATBER
HEIM B A BZER T D RBRASEHRE
M10% (REHE S ERNGFE) 2 ARA
EEES - MUREESZ RFTRBRETEH
MEABEMER250% @ RIZEH B QA
BB ABERR - REESENEEERR
R ft/E SRR R AN EHERETEER
FARIEE o

REE2022F63831BILFEE  HER
BRAMNEBEATHECN21F : AR
1,723,0007T) ° 20224 3H31H © RHE
BABEEATHEEZS AREK279,0007T
(20214 : AR ¥6,308,0007T) °

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 ARARXH
(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (a) HEBIZXRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BERE M HERMBEEIN  ANEE
statements, the Group had the following related party RERNZBEE RSN
transactions during the year:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest income received/receivable from B U T HIE A B F S
WA
= An associate (Note 16(i) — — e & 2 7] (T 5 16(ii) 1,200 1,200
- A fellow subsidiary - —HRRMEARR] 277 -
- An intermediate holding company - —fE P R A A 204 -
Repayment of lease liabilities to an m—EFEERAREE 2HE
intermediate holding company E8E - 499
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

mEMBRRKE

31 BB H @

(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (a) EdR3 BTG 2R 5 @)

(Continued)

Note: MisE -

0] The transactions above were conducted in the normal course of i) AR GTREBEEBBEPETR
business and charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties BB BETX H BEHE N R RIE
concerned or in accordance with the terms of the underlying MR E A ER (ER) WERER -
agreements, where appropriate.

(i)  AOEREAIREFREORINEGMR AT, a subsidiary of the (i) AEEWNBRANEREARHETR
Group, had entered into an agreement with &2 E8FRHE (R YI) EORIDBERARBHEARAFIREHER
ABR/A 7], a related entity of the Company, for the period from RE8TREBE ORI BRRBFI LB
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022. Under the agreement, % HIPR 8202141 A 1H R ZE20224F
ANEREE TR (RY)ER AR is allowed to access and use 12A318 - IREEHHE - AIEREET
the technology, online platform and databases owned by the B CFRID B R AR EHE RERR
counterparty, with service fee waived. The executive director of SHFFRBZHNM - ERTFARE
the Company, Mr. Tao Jingyuan, is also the sole owner of the BE 2BRREE - RNRANTESE
related companies. BEREETRBBM AR ZE—HSE

Ao
OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (b) ERRAEE 5 2 e R E B AR
PARTIES
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Amount due to the immediate holding FERTE IR A RIFIE
company 5 5
Loan to an associate (Note 16), (Note (i) m— B E A a R E R
EONCEEE)) 15,000 15,000
Interest receivables from loan to an associate & YA — R B & A Rl E X
ZHE 1,057 1,057
Dividend receivable from an associate el — R E AR 2 R E
(Note 16(ii)) (B 31 6(ii) 8,878 =
Loan to intermediate holding company A AR A A Al B 3K
(Note 20), (Note (ii)) (F45E£20) - (Bt () 10,000 7
Interest receivables from loan to intermediate & [ 7 FEHE AL A Bl IR B =X
holding company ZF B 204 =

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F

177



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31 RBAREH @

(b) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED

PARTIES (Continued)

(b) EERFEE S R REBER@

ZHREREER - REN K% B -

W & 2023F5 A 150 2IH -

ZARAREER  BFFEI% R

BB R2024FE10A7HBIH -

Notes: BieE -
(i) The amount is unsecured, 8% interest rate per annum and will (i)
expire on 15 May 2023.
(i) The amount is unsecured, 8% interest rate per annum, facility (i)
expiring on 7 October 2024.
(c) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (c) TESEEHFMH

For the year ended 31 March 2022, key management
represents the executive directors of the Group (2021: the

executive directors of the Group).

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 10 to

SEATES) °

HE2022F3A31HILFE  TEFE
HEHREAEBHNITESE(2021F « K

FEEEBEREAROTH (B
& BT 8 I 1 O IR B O 6 )

the consolidated financial statements, is as follows: AR
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET

Salaries, bonus, allowances and other e EA - EMEREMEY

benefits in kind &% 520 517
Pension costs-defined construction plans RIREAA - AEHEKETE 28 28
548 545
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mEMBRRKE

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32 IFEBHaRERME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) (a) K&/ (FFARE

OPERATIONS
2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B aE FTERT FAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATSHEAT (B518), % 7 (4,715) 33,403
Adjustments for: WELAT AR -
Impairment losses on property, Y - BB R ERE
plant and equipment &5 18 8 36 714
Impairment losses on right-of-use FREEERBEBA
assets 8 806 3,370
Gain on deemed disposal of BRIELEWB AR 2 e
subsidiary 6 (1,442) -
Loss on write-off of property, WEEmE - BEREEZ
plant and equipment &5 18 8 = 2
Loss on termination of lease KIEES X 2 BE
contracts - 21
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment 8 888 2,275
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREEENE 8 12,337 18,912
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 2 3
Finance income AEWKA 7 (2,455) (3,245)
Finance cost BB 7 911 1,874
Share of post-tax profit from DIREEE N T 2 BRELE
associates i ) 16 (8,940) (17,476)
Operating (loss)/profit before working &8 & & ZB)fi] 2 &2
capital change (&18) = F) (2,572) 39,853
Changes in working capital: LEESE
Inventories rE 7 337
Trade receivables 2 SR EIE 333,941 (266,649)
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE - e R HA
other receivables FEMFR IR 18,416 (32,347)
Trade payables B S ENFIEE E) (329,986) 298,110
Other payables and accruals Hith R IBE R EETE A (12,719) 11,011
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 7,087 50,315

REAIRHERBR QA
2022F F 3
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32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) PROCEEDS FROM DISPOSAL OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

32 FEBRERERMEW

(b) HEWX BMERKEZME
A
EGARERERA  LWEVE B
FEREHZAEHRARE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Net book amount: FREDFE -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE RS - 2
Loss on write off on property, plant and MEEmE - BEREEL
equipment &8 - @

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment FriS 5578

HEME - BEREREZ

(c) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt) and
the movement in net cash/(debt) for each of the years

(c) EEFEYR

AEHFIZERFEZRE (BE)
FREERE(BE)FREHHN

presented.
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
Cash and cash equivalents B FREEBY 23,790 32,287
Bank borrowing IRITIER = (11,819
Other borrowing HAu B3 (111) -
Lease liabilities HERE (14,363) (22,365)
Net cash/(debt) Be (AE)FHE 9,316 (1,897)
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32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32 FEBARERME@®

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (Continued) (c) BEFHEYER®
Bank Other Lease
borrowing borrowing liabilities Total
RITER Hi % HERE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FHET FAET FAET
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ2021E3831BLEE
As at 1 April 2020 R202054 18 10,895 12,226 45,802 68,923
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BERA/ (R FE (692) (12,571) (28,154) (41,417)
Foreign exchange adjustment HMEETE 5 R 924 = = 924
Finance expense BITs& A 692 345 837 1,874
Other non-cash movements HitnIR e &
- addition of lease liabilities -HEHEAR - - 3,113 3,113
- gain on lease modification - HEBKRE = = 767 767
As at 31 March 2021 M202153H31H 11,819 - 22,365 34,184
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z2022%3H31H
LEE
As at 1 April 2021 2021418 11,819 = 22,365 34,184
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BeRA/ (RL)FE (12,123) 37 (18,424) (30,510)
Financial expense HHBER 304 74 533 911
Other non-cash movements HnERe &8
- addition of lease liabilities -REREAR - = 9,889 9,889
As at 31 March 2022 2022637318 - 111 14,363 14,474

REBIRHZR AR AR

20224 F
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32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(d) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

MSCT Investment was incorporated as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group on 3 October 2018. On 12 July
2021, MSCT Investment allotted 4,666 shares at USD$1
(equivalent to approximately HK$8) per each share to the
Group.

On 21 May 2021, the Group entered into the capital
increase agreement (“Capital Increase Agreement”)
with MSCT Investment and an independent third party
(“Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed
to subscribe for 5,333 new shares of MSCT Investment for
a consideration HK1,600,000, which represents 53.33%
of the enlarged equity interest of MSCT Investment. The
subscription, satisfied by cash, was completed on 16
August 2021.

Upon completion of the subscription, the Group no longer
has control over the board of MSCT Investment. Thus,
MSCT Investment ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group
and became an associate of the Group.
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32 FEBRERERMEW

d) FREXZH

MSCT Investment 2018 10H3H
AL ATEEZEWB AR - B
20217128 * MSCT InvestmentA
FR1ZETHEERDNSE L) MNERKR
N5 B il 354,666 B 17

R2021F5821H » KEBEMSCT
Investment X — &% B E =7 ([
ADFTyigEz=([BERE]) - &
It - REARENAAKE1,600,000%8
TLREEMSCT Investment 5,333/ A%
15 ({EMSCT Investment 48 48 A IR #E &9
53.33%) - BEEARBURESZ[MHILE
R202148 A 16H AKX °

RZEREBZEXE  AEETHYH
MSCT Investment®= 5 & 5 42 54 -
At - MSCT InvestmentTﬁﬁZlSEl
B B8 /2 B 1 X 2 A S (B A B 4 )



33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

Bt 35 3R 2R B =

33 RENFSMEMIR
REBEHK  SELBTAZEEEN

instrument as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: DK
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Assets included in the consolidated statement 5t A4RA B RN K 2 EE
of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost: BEHEKATECEREE ¢
- Loan to an associate - [A— AL A RREER 15,000 15,000
- Loan to intermediate holding company - WA EERABREER 10,000 =
— Trade receivables - BHRKFIE 339 326,365
- Deposits and other receivables - e R E M EWFIE 24,014 16,487
— Financial assets at amortised cost - REEKNATTEC e REE = 25,165
- Cash and cash equivalents -BHEFREEEBY 23,790 32,287
Total HEt 73,143 415,304
Liabilities included in the consolidated statement st AL A BRI KR 2 B &
of financial position
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: HHEN T ECSRIAE
~ Trade payables - B SR FIAE 577 322,707
— Other payables and accruals - HEMmENFIERETER 10,228 16,942
- Bank borrowing - RITER - 11,819
— Other borrowing - EMER 111 =
- Lease liabilities -HERE 14,363 22,365
Total HBET 25,279 373,833

REaIRHER AR A7)
20224 F
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 FAFMBHRARR FHiREE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

(a) RRDFHBARREK

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB K& 15 20
Deposits e 400 471
Investment in an associate R—EBZE AR E 42 -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 2,616 1,686
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 0,8 2177
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TERTRIE 380 441
Loan to intermediate holding company A AR AR A Al iR B 3K 10,204 =
Financial assets at amortised cost BBEN AT ECSREE = 25,165
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al g NGRS 23,625 93,765
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 9,808 2,611
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 44017 121982
Totalassets weE 47,00 124,159
Equity and liabilities EEzREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of AR BRRELER
the Company
Share capital & 2,147 2,147
Reserves s 38,425 116,966
Total equity MRS 40,572 119,113
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H R FRIE R ERE A 3,772 3,303
Lease liabilities HEBRE 1,078 1,607
4,850 4,910
Non current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,668 136
Total liabilites mem® 0 6&s518 5,046
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 47,090 124,159
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

35

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

34 F LTI & B G 0 & 8

(#%)

(b) RAFEEEE

Share Accumulated

premium Losses Total

B 138 Z5tEE st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHIT T T

At 1 April 2020 MR2020F4H18 152,633 (34,910) 117,723
Loss and total comprehensive loss 4 N E1E & & E E5 184258

for the year - (757) (757)

At 31 March 2021 R20219F3H31H 152,633 (35,667) 116,966
Loss and total comprehensive loss 4 N ET1E & & E &5 18 4258

for the year - (78,541) (78,541)

At 31 March 2022 R2022F3HA31H 152,633 (114,208) 38,425

EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT 35 MERNAKXRBHEER

OF FINANCIAL POSITION
IMPACT OF COVID-19

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease Omicron
(“the Omicron Outbreak”) in Hong Kong in April 2022, the
precautionary and control measures have been slowed down in
Hong Kong. The first stage of adjustments to social distancing
measures that will take effect on 21 April 2022, including allowing
resumption of dinnertime dine-in services, re-opening of most
previously closed premises.

The Group’s business has been recovering since the Omicron
Qutbreak. From 21 April 2022, dinner operation of all the
restaurants of the Group have resumed.

2019 B R mE =R E

H2022F 4 A & B 18553 4% & fmOmicron
%15 (OmicronE18 ) 2 & - BEMTER K
PRHEREBITIE - ML B
BHE TG R 2022F 4 821 B AR - BIER
HMERERBERRS - EFHIRICAIE
B2 KEBDIZFT ©

REEEHE BOmicronZ IB1EFE - §2022
FAA2NBE  AEEMEERENBRELE

B -

REBIRHZR AR AR
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35 EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

IMPACT OF COVID-19 (Continued)

Subsequent to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report,
the Group noted a increase in revenue on an overall basis as
compared to the same period in 2021. The Group has been
proactively negotiating with landlords on rent concession and
reduction, and adjusted the operating hours of the restaurant
outlets and roster of staff members in order to optimise staff and
other operating costs.

Up to the date on which this set of consolidated financial
statements were authorized for issue, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the impacts of the Omicron Outbreak on
the Group’s performance in 2022 and is currently unable to
estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group.

POTENTIAL ACQUISITION OF CONTEXT IMAGE
HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 24 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“Agreement”) to acquire 100% equity
interest in Context Image Holdings Limited, a company
established in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. For
maximum consideration of HK$114,236,118, which shall be
settled by way of allotment and issuance of a maximum of
171,783,636 consideration shares by the Company at the issue
price of HK$0.665 per consideration share.

Context Image Holdings Limited indirectly holds 100% equity
interest in Changjing Wanxiang (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd (%
SERULR)RIEA R A A, a company established in PRC with
limited liability, which is principally engaged in the provision and
design of Software as a Service (“SaaS”) systems and IT solution
services.

The acquisition was completed on 22 June 2022.
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35 MEKRARAMEER@®

2019 MREEH W& (®)

R2022F3A31HEBEKEEAREAL -
EEFEIERKEERN2021F R A
Frigin e AEE—ERGHEETHEESRE
ERORM  WHARERPEEERRERET
EEER  UWE(CE I REMEERAK o

HEAGEUBKREREETIZBE  A%H
5 7E FHE Omicroni& 15 AN £ B 2022 F ¥ 45
VRE  ARREAHTEHASENTEY
@,

CONTEXT IMAGE HOLDINGS
LIMITED 2 &£ W #&

R2021F 128248 » AEB L EE &
(&) - LAULEE Context Image Holdings
Limited(—ERHAEBREX I ZERARNZ
100% % - Zm (B A&114,236,118% T -
BHARBRIEZRAERGK0.665/%8 L2 2%
ITEME R E1THR%171,783,636% KB %
BzHAX -

Context Image Holdings Limitedf&# #5515
SERER)BEERARI100%KE - %
SEROIER)BFERAT A —HARFEIK
SN2 BRAT  EBENEFRME KRR
AR%5 ([ SaaS 1) Z#t K& AR IR =R
7 o

Uy BE 1A T N 202246 H22 H 58K ©



Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBGEBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

AEEBETRVPRFENKEAREE - #
ahBEREEEEENBRLEEZMBRR)M

audited financial statements, is as follows: T
RESULTS E 3
Year ended 31 March
HZ3ABLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022F 20216 20204 2019% 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx FHET THT THr FHET
Revenue W= 910,331 1,585,536 1,009,496 171,233 193,532
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREGRA(ER),EH (4,715) 33,403 (20,542) (38,440) (1,749)
Income tax (expense)/credit FER (Y, Bk (1,338) (7,896) (428) (4,496) 248
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(EBR),/ 57 (6,053) 25,507 (20,970) (42,936) (1,501)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEEINERELNEL =8
foreign operation 1,062 2,584 (644) - -
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive ER(BR),/ 5K
(loss)/income for the year 2E(BE) RS eE (4,991) 28,091 (21,514) (42,936) (1,501)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T ATREG(BR),/ 67 :
Shareholders of the Company ARARIRR (6,029) 25,550 (20,937) (42,936) (1,501)
Non-controlling interests R = (24) 43) (33) = =
(6,053) 25,507 (20970) (42,936) (1,501)
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit UTATEEZEBE),
attributable to: A%
Shareholders of the Company ARARIRR (4,962) 28,137 (21,481) (42,936) (1,501)
Non-controlling interests FEER R (29) (46) (33) = =
(4,991) 28,001 (21,514) (42,936) (1,501)

REBIRHZR AR AR

20224 F
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EEHMBHRE
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
As at 31 March
R3A31E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20205 20195 20184
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FEL FET TExT TEL
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 119,201 111,436 136,044 27,678 48,175
Current assets MEEE 79,437 448,321 106,173 97,268 110,739
Total assets BEE 198,638 559,757 242 217 124,946 158,914
Equity and liabilities ERRERE
Total equity BN 158,403 163,394 135,303 92,007 134,943
158,403 163,394 135,303 92,007 134,943
Non-current liabilities FrRBaE 8,954 9,798 23,546 3,893 5,962
Current liabilities mEaE 31,281 386,565 83,368 29,046 18,009
Total liabilities BaE 40,235 396,363 106,914 32,939 23,971
Total equity and liabilities BREEREE 198,638 559,757 242,217 124,946 158,914
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